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COMPLAINT 

 
 Plaintiffs the Tribal Council of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes of Oklahoma, along with 

individually-named Plaintiffs Jennifer Wilkinson, Darryl Seger, Wilma Blackbear, Michael Bell, 

and  Jane Nightwalker bring this Complaint against the Defendants Mark Cody, Brian Foster, Tom 

Fox, Charles Morris, Kim Richey, K. Kirke Kickingbird, Daniel Webber, Mary Daniel, John G. 

Ghostbear, Jennifer McGee, Robert Wilson, Albert Ghezzi, Klint A. Cowan, Joyce Wood, Rollin 

Eddie Hamilton, Janice Boswell, Kim Richey, Ida Hoffman, and Chester Whiteman, individually, 

and against Frederick, Peebles & Morgan, LLP and all of its individual members, Hobbs, Straus, 

Dean & Walker, LLP and all individual members, and Red Stone Construction Services, LLC. 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 

1. Through this action, the Tribal Council of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes, made up of 

all members of the Tribes over eighteen (18) years of age, on behalf of all of its members 

and all tribal members under the age of 18, seeks to hold responsible a cadre of individuals 

who, over the course of the last seven years, took control of the Tribal government and 

gaming enterprises. Through a concerted and systematic program of fraud, coercion, 

intimidation, extortion, bribery, and deception, these individuals stole and otherwise 

diverted hundreds of millions of dollars in Tribal money for their own personal benefit, as 

well as for those who substantially assisted them in this scheme. 

2. The Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes (the “Tribes”) are combined as a result of circumstances 

resulting from United States Indian policy, going back to the nineteenth century. 
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3. The Tribes are an ancient people, whose forefathers roamed the Great Plains and Rocky 

Mountains, in search of the buffalo. They fought United States General Chivington at Sand 

Creek, General Custer on the Washita, and later, General Custer at Little Big Horn. 

4. During this period of conflict, the government of the Tribes operated traditionally. During 

that time, most people decided for themselves as to whether to participate in activities of 

the Tribes, including battles, and could be considered possessed of individual sovereignty. 

Issues affecting the Tribes at large were voted on by tribal members, and each member 

participated in the Tribes’ decisions and actions to the extent he or she saw fit. 

5. Thereafter, the U.S. put the Tribes onto a reservation located between the Washita and 

Canadian Rivers in Northwest Oklahoma, and a number of treaties were enacted between 

the Tribes and the United States government. 

6. Pursuant to the United States’ Treaty with the Cheyenne and Arapaho, October 14, 1865, 

Article I: “it is agreed that in case hostile acts or depredations are committed by the people 

of the United States, or by Indians on friendly terms with the United States, against the 

tribe or tribes, or the individual members of the tribe or tribes, who are party to this treaty… 

the party aggrieved shall submit their complaints through their agent to the President of the 

United States…and the award shall be binding on all parties interested, and the 

Government of the United States shall in good faith enforce the same.” 

7. Pursuant to the United States’ Treaty with the Cheyenne and Arapaho; October 28, 1867, 

Article I: “If bad men among the whites, or among other people subject to the authority of 

the United States, shall commit any wrong upon the person or property of the Indians, the 

United States will… proceed at once to cause the offender to be arrested and punished 

according to the laws of the United States, and also reimburse the injured person for the 
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loss sustained. If bad men among the Indians shall commit a wrong or depredation upon 

the person or property of any one, the tribes herein named solemnly agree that they will… 

deliver up the wrongdoer to the United States, to be tried and punished according to its 

laws; and in case they willfully refuse to do so, the person injured shall be reimbursed for 

his loss from annuities or other moneys due or to become due to them under this or other 

treaties made with the United States.”  

8. For a long time, referred to in the study of Indian Law as the “Termination Period,” the 

Tribes did not have a government, but were seen as “wards” of the United States. In the 

1930s, the Oklahoma Indian Welfare Act provided the Tribes a template for hierarchical 

governance unlike that to which they were accustomed or suited. The history of the 

Cheyenne and Arapaho peoples have them operating in a “circle” or “hoop,” a flat 

organizational structure, rather than the top-down pyramidic hierarchical government form 

provided by the United States in the OIWA. The hierarchical government template, which 

was foreign to the Tribes, provided for a powerful executive in charge of the Tribes, 

answerable only to the United States. 

9. Because this pyramidic form of government allowed for a few families to retain control of 

the Tribes, allowing for almost dictatorial powers vested in the Executive, and disallowed 

sufficient participation by all members of the Tribes, the Tribes rewrote their Constitution 

in 2006, to provide for checks and balances and to provide for a more direct participation 

by the Tribes’ members in governance. 

10. The new Constitution provides for four discrete branches of the Tribes’ government, with 

governance authority and power balanced between the four branches: The Executive, 

including the Governor of the Tribes and his appointed staff; the Legislature, which 
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includes one representative for each Tribe per legislative district; the Judicial branch, which 

includes a Supreme Court, District Court, and Court Clerks; and the Tribal Council, in 

whose membership is all Tribal members over the age of eighteen years. 

11. A salient aspect of the new government was the appointment of the highest caliber of legal 

experts in Indian Law available to the Supreme Court. These appointees included Lindsay 

Robertson, the head of the Indian Law program at the University of Oklahoma College of 

Law, and Dennis Arrow, a professor of Indian Law at the Oklahoma City University 

College of Law. Both of these professors are widely regarded as experts in the field of 

Indian Law. 

12. This action involved and continues to involve an external takeover of the Tribes by non-

Tribal members, acting in concert with corrupt tribal members.   

13. The Defendants have participated in an ongoing scheme to take over power from the people 

of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes – the Plaintiff “Tribal Council” -- and to obtain 

positions of power within the Tribes in order to divert moneys to themselves which 

rightfully belong to the Tribal Council.  The Defendants used a modus operandi that non-

Indians have repeatedly used to take over casinos owned by Indian tribes: 

a.  The Defendants have created leadership disputes in the Tribes, including a 

dispute with regard to the identity of the proper Supreme Court, and disputes as to 

the identity of the Governor of the Tribes. These disputes are ongoing, and have 

caused chaos within the Tribes and numerous contradictory rulings from the Bureau 

of Indian Affairs and Interior Board of Indian Appeals. 
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b. The Defendants have taken control of tribal gaming and casino management, 

specifically appointing themselves, family members, or co-conspirators to positions 

of power within the Tribes’ administration to control gaming and gaming revenue. 

c. The Defendants have caused or attempted to cause a Tribal membership 

dispute, through appointment of loyal co-conspirators and other bribed individuals 

to the Department of Enrollment and threatening the removal of any persons who 

have resisted the takeover of the Tribes’ government. 

d. The Defendants have made numerous statements to the media in order to bolster 

their power within the Tribes and to convince tribal members and non-members 

alike that their actions are valid and that there are “factions” within the Tribes. This 

action serves to create the illusion that this takeover of the Tribes’ government by 

non-members and corrupt Tribal members is simply an “internal dispute” of the 

Tribes’ government and membership. 

e. The Defendants have been in contact with lobbyists in both the Oklahoma State 

government and in Washington, D.C., and have spoken to congressmen and others 

in order to convince the relevant members of the State and United States 

government that their scheme and takeover of the Tribes is valid. 

f. The Defendants are relying upon national “Tribal silence” and the taboo status 

of leadership disputes among forums like the National Congress of American 

Indians and National Indian Gaming Association to advance their cause and to 

solidify the perceived validity of their takeover of the Tribes’ government. 

14. The named individual Defendants, made up of non-members of the Tribes acting in concert 

with corrupt or bribed Tribal members, have participated individually and jointly in a coup 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 9 of 105



10 
 

to take over the government of the Tribes, and have held or do currently hold positions of 

power within the government of the Tribes, Executive, and Judiciary branches of the 

Tribes’ government, or have aided and abetted in the takeover of the same. Defendants 

have embezzled hundreds of millions of dollars which have not been accounted for and 

which are the rightful property of the Tribal Council, in violation of the Tribes’ 

Constitution. 

15. The named non-Tribal law firm corporate Defendants have conspired with the named 

individual Defendants unlawfully to take over the governance of the Tribes and embezzle 

funds which rightfully belong to the Tribal Council.  

16. The conduct of RICO Defendants alleged herein violated Sections (a), (b), and (c), and (d) 

of RICO, 18 U.S.C., §1962. The RICO Defendants took and retain control of the Tribes 

and Tribes’ gaming through a pattern of Racketeering activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§1962 (b). To accomplish this and their ultimate scheme to defraud the Tribes, the RICO 

Defendants converted the Tribes’ government into a RICO Enterprise, by means of 

weakening or taking over the Legislative and Judicial branches of government and 

terminating the employment of honest employees and officials of the Tribes. With the 

Tribes’ government converted to a RICO Enterprise, the Defendants further violated 18 

U.S.C. § 1962(a) by investing proceeds of their racketeering activities in a manner that 

independently injured the Tribal Council, denying its members investment opportunities 

that they took for themselves using money stolen from the Tribal Council. And by 

conspiring to do all of these things, the RICO Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. §1962(d). 

17. The actions taken by the RICO Defendants in furtherance of their scheme additionally 

violated numerous other provisions of Federal and State Law.  
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18. This is an externally driven and continuous pattern of racketeering activity, using the 

Tribes’ government as a RICO enterprise, which was made possible by the coup launched 

from the outside by corrupt non-Tribal, external actors, who unlawfully and corruptly 

gained the control and use of hundreds of millions of dollars in tribal gaming monies. The 

RICO participants perpetrated a coup and unlawfully collapsed the Tribes’ constitutional 

government of checks and balances of legislature and judiciary into one dictatorial 

executive which acts as the tribal racketeering enterprise. The RICO participants 

accomplished the takeover and control of the Tribes by means of a dictatorial pattern of 

force, bribery, extortion, embezzlement, money laundering, and multiple acts of fraud. 

19. In this action, Plaintiffs seek damages and equitable relief—including preliminary and 

permanent injunctive relief, as well as restitution and declaratory relief—against each of 

the Defendants, jointly and severally. This action seeks to clean up the mess that 

Defendants have created and hold them responsible for it. 

 

II.  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

20. Plaintiffs bring this action seeking damages, including treble damages, costs of suit, 

equitable relief, and reasonable attorney’s fees resulting from Defendants’ violations of the 

Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961 et seq., Oklahoma 

state law, and tribal law. 

21. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1367, and 

18 U.S.C. §1964.  

22. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1965 and 28 U.S.C. §1391.  
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III. PARTIES 
 

A. PLAINTIFFS 
 

23. Plaintiff Tribal Council of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes of Oklahoma (“Tribal 

Council”) is a branch of the government of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes of Oklahoma, 

with its principal location in Concho, Canadian County, Oklahoma. The Tribal Council, 

pursuant to Article V of the Tribes’ 2006 Constitution, is made up of all individual 

members of the Tribes who are eighteen (18) years of age and older. The Tribal Council 

has the power to set policies for the Tribes and has the exclusive power to approve the 

annual budget for the Tribes. The Tribal Council has the authority to authorize the 

Governor to enter into treaties, compacts, or any contract, and further has the power to 

establish its own rules of Order and Procedures (Exhibit 1: Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes’ 

Constitution, Article V, Section 2). 

24. Plaintiff Jennifer Wilkinson is an individual person, a United States citizen, and a member 

of the Tribes.  She has served as Tribal Council Coordinator for the Tribal Council from 

October 3, 2015 to present. 

25. Plaintiff Darryl Seger is an individual person, a United States citizen, and a member of the 

Tribes.  He served as the Tribes’ Budget Analyst from May 2010 to March 2014. 

26. Plaintiff Wilma Blackbear is an individual person, a United States citizen, and a member 

of the Tribes.  She served as the Arapaho Legislator for the First district from April 2011 

to March 2014 and was ousted from her position by the RICO Ringleader Defendants 

named below. 

27. Plaintiff Michael Bell is an individual person, a United States citizen, and a member of the 

Tribes.  He served as Arapaho Tribal Legislative Assistant to Eugene Lisquita from January 
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2015 to present. He has nominally retained his position, but the RICO Ringleader 

Defendants named below have refused to pay him since late April 2017. 

28. Plaintiff Jane Nightwalker is an individual person, a United States citizen, and a member 

of the Tribes.  She who previously served in the Tribes’ Election Commission and 

Legislature. She was elected to the Legislature in 2009 and was ousted by the RICO 

Ringleader Defendants. 

 
B. DEFENDANTS 

1. The RICO Ringleaders 
 

29. Ringleader Defendant Mark Cody is an individual person and United States citizen. He is 

not a member of the Tribes, and his primary residence and business are in the Western 

District of Oklahoma. Defendant Cody served as a federal law enforcement officer for the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs and was assigned to Concho, Oklahoma between July 2010 and 

early 2017 and assisted in the takeover of the government by enforcing the unlawful actions 

and unconstitutional orders of Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Hamilton, and other RICO 

Ringleaders and Aiders and Abettors. 

30. Ringleader Defendant Brian Foster is an individual person and United States citizen, 

residing in Norman, Oklahoma. He is not a member of the Tribes. He was appointed as 

CEO and Director of Gaming by Ringleader Defendant Boswell, and has ties to a number 

of organizations and companies, registered in and outside of the State of Oklahoma, which 

have received payment from the other RICO Ringleaders. Ringleader Defendant Foster 

was the sole proprietor and employee of the now-defunct Sooner Biofuels, LLC. Foster has 

received embezzled funds and entered into contracts not authorized by the Tribal Council 

as required by Article V, Section 2(c) of the Tribes’ Constitution as result of his 
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participation with the other Ringleaders, and has entered into unconstitutional contracts 

executed with Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Boswell for his own benefit. 

Defendant Foster has either personally received or has directed to Defendant Tom Fox, 

over $1,000,000 in gaming funds which were unlawfully obtained. 

31. Ringleader Defendant Tom Fox is an individual person and United States citizen. He is not 

a member of the Tribes, and his principal residence is in Oklahoma. Defendant Fox 

registered a Minnesota Corporation, Clinton Land Holdings, LLC, of which he was the 

sole proprietor and employee, for the purpose of unlawfully laundering gaming revenues 

and other funds embezzled by Ringleader Defendants Foster and Boswell. 

32. Ringleader Defendant Charles Morris is an individual person and United States citizen. He 

is not a member of the Tribes, and his principal residence and business are located in 

Canadian County, State of Oklahoma. Defendant Morris served as the Attorney General of 

the Tribes under Ringleader Defendant Boswell and actively participated in the takeover 

of the Tribes’ government by assisting in the unlawful ouster of the validly seated Supreme 

Court of the Tribes and the unlawful termination of Tribal employees without the due 

process guaranteed by the Tribes’ Constitution. 

33. Ringleader Defendant K. Kirke Kickingbird is an individual person and a United States 

citizen. He is not a member of the Tribes. He is an attorney licensed in the State of 

Oklahoma, working for Defendant Hobbs, Strauss, Dean and Walker, LLC, and has 

participated in the takeover of the Tribes’ government through his association with Hobbs, 

Strauss, Dean and Walker. Defendant Kickingbird currently acts as counsel for Defendant 

Hamilton and/or the Executive Branch of the Tribes’ government. 
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34. Ringleader Defendant Daniel Webber is an individual person and United States citizen. He 

is not a member of the Tribes, and his primary residence and business are in the Western 

District of Oklahoma. He is an attorney licensed in the State of Oklahoma, and has been 

invalidly appointed to the Tribes’ Judiciary by Ringleader Defendant Boswell. Defendant 

Webber was, prior to his unlawful appointment to the Judiciary, denied membership in the 

Cheyenne and Arapaho Bar. 

35. Ringleader Defendant Rollin Eddie Hamilton is an individual person and United States 

citizen. He is a member of the Tribes, with his principal residence in El Reno, Canadian 

County, Oklahoma. He is the current Governor of the Tribes, having been sworn in January 

2014. Prior to his election as Governor, Hamilton served as the Executive Director of 

Administration of the Tribes under Ringleader Defendant Janice Prairie Chief-Boswell 

from January 2010 through December 2013.  

36. Ringleader Defendant Janice Prairie Chief-Boswell is an individual person and United 

State Citizen. She is a member of the Tribes, and her principal residence and business are 

in Canadian County, Oklahoma. Boswell is the prior Governor of the Tribes, having served 

as Governor from January 2010 to January 2014. 

37. Ringleader Defendant Ida Hoffman is an individual person and United States citizen. She 

is a member of the Tribes, whose residence and business were at all relevant times located 

in Canadian County, Oklahoma. Hoffman served as Chief of Staff for the Tribes under 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell and also served as director of the Housing Authority for the 

Tribes. Prior to becoming the Chief of Staff during the Boswell Administration, Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman served as a legislator. 
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38. All of the RICO Ringleaders have acted and conspired in various corrupt acts against the 

Tribal Council and individual Plaintiffs, beginning in roughly 2010 and continuing to the 

present. All of the named RICO Ringleaders have unlawfully benefitted from the hostile 

takeover of the Tribes’ government, and have conspired to convert the Tribes’ government 

into a RICO Enterprise. 

2. Aiders and Abettors 
 

39. Defendants Mary Daniel, John G. Ghostbear, Jennifer McBee, and Daniel Webber are 

individual persons and United States citizens who primarily conduct their business in 

Concho, Oklahoma. These Defendants are not members of the Tribes.  Each of these 

Defendants is an active member of the Oklahoma Bar Association.   These Defendants 

were improperly appointed and sworn in by Ringleader Defendant Boswell as members of 

an alleged Tribal Supreme Court, in violation of the Tribes’ Codes and Constitution, and 

are collectively referred to hereafter as the “Imposter Court.”  They have participated in 

various corrupt acts in support of the RICO Ringleaders.  

40. Defendant Frederick, Peebles & Morgan (Hereafter “FPM”) is a law firm based in Omaha, 

Nebraska. No member of FPM is a member of the Tribes.  Defendant does not have an 

office in Oklahoma, but claims to have represented Defendant Boswell in 2010 and 

continued to represent and/or send invoices to then-Governor Boswell through at least 

February 2011. FPM contracted with Defendant Boswell and assisted in the takeover of 

the Tribes’ government. 

41. Defendant Hobbs, Straus, Dean & Walker (hereafter “HSDW”) is a law firm and an 

Oklahoma Corporation based in Oklahoma City. The Firm is not a member of the Tribes. 

Defendant is the current firm on retainer with the Executive Branch of the Tribes’ 
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government and assisted in the prior coup to take over the government, acting as the 

Executive Branch’s counsel during the period of July 2010 through December 2010 and at 

all times thereafter. 

42. Defendant Red Stone Construction Services, LLC (“Red Stone Construction”) is an 

Oklahoma corporation with its principal business in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Red Stone 

Construction is not owned or operated by any member of the Tribes. Red Stone 

Construction has received unlawfully embezzled funds in collection of an unlawful debt 

paid by Ringleader Defendant Hamilton. 

43. Defendant Robert Wilson is an individual person and United States citizen whose principal 

residence and place of business are in Canadian County, Oklahoma. Defendant Wilson is 

not a member of the Tribes, and acted as Treasurer under Defendant Boswell. His 

appointment to the position was not approved by the Legislature or Tribal Council. 

Defendant Wilson participated in the RICO Enterprise through his unauthorized position 

within the Tribes’ government, and through his approval of payments to RICO Defendants 

and other parties approved by RICO Defendants. 

44. Defendant Albert Ghezzi is an individual person and a United States citizen. He is an 

attorney licensed with the Oklahoma Bar Association, and is not a member of the Tribes. 

He currently serves as the Attorney General for the Tribes, and has filed with the Tribes’ 

District Court a suit the purpose of which is the unlawful enjoinder and interference with 

the Election Commission’s constitutional administration and oversight of the 2017 

election. 

45. Defendant Klint Cowan is an individual person and United States citizen. He is an attorney 

licensed with the Oklahoma Bar Association, and is not a member of the Tribes. He 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 17 of 105



18 
 

currently serves as counsel for the Tribes’ Election Commission, and has colluded and 

conspired with Defendant Ghezzi in the filing of court actions unlawfully seeking to enjoin 

and interfere with the Election Commission’s Constitutional administration and oversight 

of the 2017 election. 

46. Defendant Joyce Wood is an individual person and United States citizen. She is a member 

of the Tribes whose principal residence and business are in the Western District of 

Oklahoma. Defendant Wood was Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s administrative assistant 

during the latter’s stint as the Governor of the Tribes. Defendant Wood either signed or 

stamped checks written to Ringleader Defendant Foster in relation to his unlawful contracts 

with the Tribes. 

47. Defendant Kim Richey is an individual person and United States citizen. She is a member 

of the Tribes, and her principal residence and business are located in Canadian County, 

Oklahoma. Defendant Richey served as Assistant Attorney General under Ringleader 

Defendants Janice Boswell and Charles Morris. 

48. Defendant Chester Whiteman is an individual person and United States citizen. He is a 

member of the Tribes with his principal residence and business located in Canadian 

County, Oklahoma. Defendant Whiteman was the Director of Economic Development of 

the Tribes, during which he was in contact and colluded with Ringleader Defendant 

Hoffman. 

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

 

53. This RICO action involves non-Tribal members infiltrating and engaging in an external 

takeover of the Tribes. These non-Tribal members found scapegoats and front men within 
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the Tribes to spearhead the external tribal invasion and takeover of these Tribes to establish 

the Tribes as a Racketeering Enterprise. Their goal was to control or steal hundreds of 

millions of dollars of the Tribes’ gaming money, which tribal income is property of the 

Plaintiff Tribal Council and the individual council members and other individual Plaintiffs. 

A. DEFENDANTS’ TAKEOVER OF THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH AND 
ELECTION OF DEFENDANTS BOSWELL AND HAMILTON 

 
54. Defendant Janice Boswell was elected to the position of Governor and took an oath of 

office in January 2010.  She was aided in this election by outside forces including the 

Defendant law firms, non-Tribal member Defendants, and non-Tribal lobbyists. 

55. Defendant Boswell, upon being elected, participated with non-Tribal Ringleader 

Defendants in a conspiracy to embezzle moneys and to extort or bribe other officials, 

distributing the Tribes’ funds to unauthorized individuals and otherwise providing payouts 

to the RICO Ringleaders, Aiders and Abettors, and political allies as is more particularly 

demonstrated below.  

56. At all times during her term as governor, Defendant Boswell was advised and instructed 

by Defendants Kickingbird, HSDW, and FPM. 

57. After securing her governorship, Ringleader Defendant Boswell conspired with other 

RICO Ringleaders and Aiders and Abettors, including her counsel, to begin asserting her 

control over the Tribes’ judicial system, as more thoroughly discussed in Section IV(B) 

below. 

58. On December 17, 2010, Judge Bob Smith of the Tribal District Court issued an emergency 

Temporary Restraining Order suspending Defendant Boswell’s authority. On December 

17, 2010, the Legislature issued a Legislative Proclamation recognizing the Temporary 

Restraining Order and transfer of the governor’s signatory authority to Leslie Wandrie-
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Harjo, the Lieutenant Governor. On December 27, 2010, the Tribal District Court issued a 

Preliminary Injunction extending the effectiveness of the Temporary Restraining Order. 

However, at no point did Defendant Boswell obey either the legislature or the judiciary, 

and instead used her sole control over the Tribes’ funds to stop pay for officials acting 

against the interests of the RICO Ringleaders, including sitting judges, legislators, and 

other officials within the Tribes.  

59. On January 6, 2011, Regional Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) Director Dan Deerinwater 

issued a letter temporarily recognizing Boswell as governor, ignoring the legislative and 

judicial procedure taken to remove her from office. The matter was appealed by Boswell 

and her counsel, Defendants HSDW and/or FPM, to the Interior Board of Indian Appeals 

(“IBIA”).  

60. On March 28, 2011, the IBIA issued an opinion vacating the Regional Director’s decision 

to recognize Defendant Boswell as the legitimate governor. 

61. During this time, the Ringleader Defendants Boswell and Foster began exerting their 

control over the Tribes’ casinos, entering into contracts with individuals and entities such 

as Clinton Land Holdings, LLC (operated by Defendant Fox) and Sooner BioFuels 

(operated by Ringleader Defendant Foster) for payouts of gaming proceeds in violation of 

the Indian Gaming Regulation Act (“IGRA”), National Indian Gaming Commission 

(“NIGC”) regulations, and the Gaming Ordinance of the Tribes. (Exhibit 2) 

62. The Ringleader Defendants, specifically Defendants Boswell, Hamilton, and Hoffman, 

with the assistance and aid of all other Defendants, continued to extend their control over 

the Tribes, stopping pay for any tribal employees they viewed as threats and installing 

unqualified individuals into key director level positions. During this time, Ringleader 
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Defendant Boswell appointed Aider and Abettor Defendant Robert Wilson as the Tribes’ 

Treasurer, and appointed Ringleader Defendant Brian Foster as Director of Gaming for the 

Tribes, among others. 

63. Ringleader Defendants Boswell and Hoffman became involved with the Tribes’ 

Department of Enrollment, which is the Tribal Government entity responsible for 

maintaining the Tribal Rolls and records of membership in the Tribes.  Defendants installed 

unqualified individuals loyal to them to authorize the release of highly confidential 

information of the Tribes’ members to be used for the purposes of extortion and to have 

political rivals removed from the Tribal rolls. 

64. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton was elected to succeed Defendant Boswell as Governor 

and took an Oath of Office in roughly January 2014. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton has 

continued Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s pattern of withholding pay from Tribal 

government officials and employees who oppose him in order to coerce cooperation with 

his unlawful endeavors, and has made unlawful payments to non-members from gaming 

and other Tribal funds. 

65. At all relevant times since the takeover, Ringleader Defendants have undertaken various 

acts of embezzlement, coercion, blackmail, bribery, and even banishment in order to 

maintain their control over the Tribes as a RICO Enterprise. 

B. CREATING A “TRIBAL LEADERSHIP DISPUTE”: DEFENDANTS’ 
TAKEOVER OF THE JUDICIAL BRANCH 
 

66. The Courts Act of the Tribes’ Law and Order Code (attached as Exhibit 3), Title II, Section 

301 states that the “Court clerk shall be appointed by the Supreme Court, and Deputy Court 

Clerks shall be appointed by the Court Clerk, subject to the approval of the Supreme 

Court.” Further, the Tribes’ Constitution at Article VIII, Section 9 establishes a Judicial 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 21 of 105



22 
 

Commission which “shall have the power to make recommendations to the Chief Justice 

to discipline or remove any Court Clerk or other Court staff.”  (Exh. 1, Art VIII) 

67. The Law and Order Code, Title II, Section 303 states that the “Court Clerk is a supervisory 

administrative position of the Judicial Branch of the Government…with the same rank as 

Department Director.” 

68. The Tribes’ Constitution, Article VIII, Section 2 requires that “Each Judge and Justice shall 

be selected upon nomination by the Governor, subject to confirmation by the Legislature 

and approval by the Tribal Council.” Article VIII, Section 3(a) states that “the Chief Justice 

and each Associate Justice of the Supreme Court shall serve four-year staggered terms or 

until a successor is sworn into office.”  

69. On May 7, 2003, the Supreme Court of the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes, Justices Ryland 

Rivas, Dennis W. Arrow, and Amos Black III, issued Order CAN-SC-AD-03-01, 

appointing Patricia Bell as the Clerk of the Tribal Court, pursuant to the Cheyenne and 

Arapaho Tribes Law and Order Code, Title II, Section 301. 

70. In June 2004, Patricia Bell appointed Lena Marquez as Deputy Court Clerk, approved by 

the Supreme Court, pursuant to Title II, Section 301. 

71. On May 4, 2007, the Supreme Court (Justices Enid Boles, Dennis Arrow, Lindsay 

Robertson, and Kathleen Guzman, hereafter, “Arrow Court”) issued an Order in CAN-SC-

07-05 affirming that Court Clerks are employed by the Judicial Branch. 

72. In or around June 2010, following the actions of the Legislature to suspend or impeach her 

and the Tribal District Court’s affirmation of the same, Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

refused to pay Chief Judge Smith of the Tribal District Court, in violation of Article VIII, 

Section 8 of the Constitution. The matter was brought before the Arrow Court. 
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73. On July 7, 2010, the Arrow Court issued an Order directing Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

to pay Chief Judge Smith his salary as was owed in Case Number SC-2010-07. 

74. On July 10, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Boswell nominated Aider and Abettor Defendants 

Daniel, Ghostbear, and McBee, and Ringleader Defendant Webber to unspecified seats on 

the Tribes’ Supreme Court. The only available seats, pursuant to the Constitution, were 

those in which the sitting Supreme Court Justice had served his or her four-year term 

(Constitution, Article VIII, Section 3(a)). Only three seats were vacant at the time, and 

Boswell’s nominations did not indicate which seats her four appointees were meant to fill. 

75. On July 14, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Boswell was again Ordered by the Arrow Court, 

in Case Number SC-2010-07, to pay to Chief Judge Smith the salary which was owed to 

him. 

76. On July 20, 2010, Defendant HSDW informed the Arrow Court that Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell would comply with the Court’s prior Order to pay Chief Judge Smith the salary 

which he was due. 

77. On August 6, 2010, the Legislature entered Legislative Orders (3L-LO-2010-OMI-08-01 

through 08-04) denying the nominations of Defendants Daniel, Ghostbear, Webber, and 

McBee to the Court. 

78. On August 6, 2010, in Case Number SC-2010-29, Ringleader Defendant Boswell filed a 

Statement with the Arrow Court, acknowledging the resignation of Ringleader Defendant 

Kickingbird as counsel for the Executive Branch, but indicated that Defendant HSDW was 

still retained by the Executive Branch. 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 23 of 105



24 
 

79. On August 12, 2010, the Arrow Court issued an Order in Case Number SC-AD-2010-07, 

confirming that the Legislature’s denial of Governor Boswell’s nominees to the Court was 

valid pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution. 

80. On August 12, 2010, the Arrow Court issued a Second Supplemental Order in Case 

Number SC-AD-2010-07, stating in relevant part: 

a. If Boswell continues to refuse to follow Court Orders, then she forfeits the 

Executive Power; 

b. Prior Orders remain in place for the payment of Chief Judge Smith, and those 

Orders have not been executed by Boswell; 

c. Further failure to comply with and enforce Court Orders would constitute a de 

facto dictatorship; 

d. That Judge Smith is entitled to pay as an Officer of the Judicial Branch of the 

Tribal Government; 

e. Judge Smith has a valid 4-year employment contract with the Tribes, which would 

end March 31, 2012, but that he did not need a contract to be entitled to 

compensation as an Officer of the Court pursuant to Title VIII, Section 8; 

f. Further payment to Defendant K. Kirke Kickingbird, whose resignation has been 

acknowledged by the Governor, would constitute embezzlement; 

g. That payment to Defendant HSDW in relation to any cases in which the Governor 

is not a party would constitute embezzlement; 

h. That Defendant Boswell would be suspended as Governor in two business days, 

should she continue to refuse to comply with the Order and pay Chief Judge Smith;  
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81. On September 23, 2010, Aider and Abettor Defendant Morris, as Attorney General 

appointed by Ringleader Defendant Boswell, issued and caused to be circulated throughout 

the Tribes an unconstitutional memorandum indicating that the nominations of Defendants 

Webber, Ghostbear, McBee, and Daniel to the Impostor Court were “valid nominations, 

and that those nominees constituted the duly appointed Supreme Court, and that Justices 

Arrow, Boles, Guzman, and Robertson had been ousted.” The Tribes’ Constitution reserves 

issues of Constitutional interpretation for the Courts at Article VIII, Section 6(c).  

82. On September 29, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Boswell unlawfully swore in the Impostor 

Court, in violation of the Constitutional provisions requiring approval of nominees by the 

Legislature and Tribal Counsel. 

83. On October 6, 2010, Case No. CIV-2010-84, Lynn v. Boswell, Webber, Ghostbear, 

McGee, and Daniel was filed in the Arrow Court. The Arrow Court issued a Temporary 

Restraining Order against all Defendants therein, restraining Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell from further nomination or actions to support her nominees, and restraining 

Defendants Impostor Court from taking any judicial actions or issuing any Orders. 

84. On October 15, 2010, the Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribal Tribune, at the direction of 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell, published a front-page story “New Supreme Court Justices 

Are Sworn In,” including photos of Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s unlawful swearing-in 

of the Impostor Court. 

85. On December 20, 2010, the Executive branch called a “mandatory employee meeting” at 

the Concho Community Hall. Clerks Patricia Bell and Marquez attended this meeting. 

Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Hoffman were present at the meeting. Ringleader 

Defendant Hamilton directed Lena Marquez to return to the Court, to open the Clerk’s 
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office during the “mandatory employee meeting.” Upon her return to the Court Clerk’s 

Office, Marquez was confronted by Defendants Wood, Wilson, and Whiteman. They 

presented her an “Order” issued by Ringleader Defendant Webber and directed Marquez 

to enter it into the record. Marquez filed this alleged Order in conformance with her duties 

as Deputy Clerk of the Courts.  

86. On December 21, 2010, Wallace Avans, Judicial Commissioner of the Cheyenne and 

Arapaho Tribes, wrote a letter to Lieutenant Governor Leslie Wandrie-Harjo, that “To my 

knowledge and belief, Daniel Webber has not applied to the Tribal Bar and does not belong 

to the Tribal Bar. Daniel Webber is an impostor who has violated our Tribal Constitution. 

He has not been seated by our Supreme Court Justices. He is not recognized by the 

Legislative Branch and has never been sworn in, and has been denied by the Legislature.” 

87. On December 22, 2010, the Arrow Court issued an Order directing that the December 20, 

2010 Order of the Impostor Court was improperly filed. This Order further directed the 

Clerk of Court to not accept “any document tendered by imposter Justice Daniel Webber 

for filing in any purportedly Judicial capacity, and to decline to file any document tendered 

by John G. Ghostbear, Jennifer Henshaw McBee, or Mary Daniel for filing in any judicial 

capacity.” 

88. On December 22, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Boswell and Defendant Wood appeared at 

the Court Clerks’ office, along with Ringleader Defendant Mark Cody, a BIA law 

enforcement officer. They demanded that Clerks Patricia Bell and Lena Marquez file illegal 

Orders presented by Ringleader Defendant Webber, in cases which had already been 

closed. Pursuant to the Arrow Court’s Order, Clerks Bell and Marquez refused to file any 

further Orders from the Impostor Court. Ringleader Defendant Boswell indicated to Clerk 
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Bell that as Governor, she did not recognize the Arrow Court as the legitimate Supreme 

Court. 

89. On December 23, 2010, the Courthouse was scheduled to close at noon for the Christmas 

holiday. Defendant Morris appeared at the Court Clerk’s office at approximately 11:50 

a.m., and filed a new case to be heard before the Arrow Court. The new case was filed, and 

Defendant Morris instructed Clerk Bell to send copies to both the Arrow and Impostor 

Courts. 

90. Immediately after Defendant Morris left the Courthouse, Executive Officer Josh Smith 

appeared at the Courthouse with a letter from Ringleader Defendant Boswell for Arrow 

Court Justice Enid Boles, which he directed should be sent to both the Arrow Court and 

the Impostor Court. 

91. Clerk Bell contacted Arrow Court Justice Lindsay Robertson regarding this letter and the 

new case which was filed, and was instructed to forward the letter and new case only to 

members of the Arrow Court. Clerk Bell followed these instructions, and sent the letter and 

the newly-filed Petition to the Justices of the Arrow Court.  

92. On December 27, 2010, at approximately 4:00 p.m., Defendant Morris appeared at the 

Clerk’s office, along with Defendant Richey. They presented to Clerks Bell and Marquez 

an Order by Ringleader Defendant Webber directing the firing of Chief Judge Smith of the 

District Court, a violation of Article VIII, Section 9(b) of the Tribes’ Constitution. In 

compliance with the Arrow Court’s prior Order of December 20, 2010, they refused to file 

this Order.  
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93. On December 27, 2010, the Tribal District Court entered an Order temporarily suspending 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell as Governor and appointing Leslie Wandrie-Harjo, the 

Lieutenant Governor, to replace her. 

94. Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Hoffman, along with Defendant Wilson appeared at 

the Court Clerk’s office on December 27, 2010. They interrogated Clerks Bell and 

Marquez, and attempted to persuade them to file an Order from Ringleader Defendant 

Webber, threatening them with loss of their employment should they fail to comply. Bell 

and Marquez did not file the Order, and Ringleader Defendant Hamilton left them with an 

ultimatum to either file the Order in violation of a valid Supreme Court Order directed to 

the Clerks specifically, or face termination. 

95. On the morning of December 28, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Webber signed an unlawful 

Order directing the suspension of Patricia Bell and Lena Marquez. Thereafter, Ringleader 

Defendants Hamilton, Hoffman, Boswell, and Cody appeared at the Court Clerk’s office. 

These Defendants presented an unlawful Order by Ringleader Defendant Webber to 

suspend Bell. Bell refused to file the Order suspending them from duties. Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell introduced an individual, whom she claimed was appointed as the new 

Clerk of the Court. Bell and Marquez were instructed to remain at the Court Clerk’s office 

in order to assist this new alleged Clerk in filing the Order by Ringleader Defendant 

Webber. When they refused to assist, Ringleader Defendant Boswell instructed the new 

individual in the procedure for filing the Order, and Bell was escorted from the premises 

by Ringleader Defendant Cody. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton further issued an unlawful 

Memorandum through his position at the Department of Administration directing that Bell 

and Marquez were suspended without pay from their duties on that date. 
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96. The Tribes’ Constitution grants the Judicial Commission the authority to determine the 

suspension or removal of a Court Clerk at Article VIII, Section 9(b). The official 

procedures for suspension or other disciplinary actions of Court Clerks and other Judicial 

employees are found in the Courts Act of the Tribes’ Law and Order Code, Title II, and 

prior to the suspension of a Court Clerk, the Judicial Commission, established by the 

Tribes’ Constitution, must review the allegations made against the Clerk. This never 

occurred. 

97. On December 29, 2010, Paul Knight, acting Superintendent of the BIA, wrote a letter to 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell, which states in part that “The Bureau of Indian Affairs 

does not have any certainty that the tribal Court or Supreme Court is properly composed 

or that their actions are valid… We are advising the Tribes, that at this time, we will not 

recognize court orders that have been issued which have an effect on the leadership of the 

Tribes, the authority of the Governor, or that effect the validity of actions by the Court(s), 

both trial court and Supreme Court until our review is completed.” 

98. On either January 14 or January 27, 2011 (it is unclear from the record, as both dates appear 

on the alleged Order), the Impostor Court issued an unlawful Administrative Order (SC-

AD-2010-00) terminating the employment of Patricia Bell and Lena Marquez. 

99. On February 7, 2011, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton personally delivered copies of the 

Administrative Order to Bell and Marquez. 

100. On February 11, 2011, Bell and Marquez filed a formal complaint with the Tribes’ Judicial 

Commission regarding their wrongful termination. The Judicial Commission never 

performed any investigation and the matter has not been resolved. 
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101. On February 11, 2011, Bell and Marquez additionally filed a Grievance with the Personnel 

Office of the Tribes relating to the unlawful procedures surrounding their termination. 

Again, this matter has not been investigated and the matter has never been resolved. 

102. Since January 24, 2011, the Impostor Court has acted unlawfully as the Supreme Court of 

the Tribes, having been unlawfully appointed by the Governor, without approval of the 

legislature or Tribal Counsel. The Impostor Court continues to assert its unlawful judicial 

authority over the Tribes. After January 24, 2011, the Arrow Court made efforts to suspend 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell as Governor and to re-establish itself as the Supreme Court 

of the Tribes. These efforts were ultimately unsuccessful, as Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

refused to pay the Arrow Court for its work and refused to acknowledge it as the Supreme 

Court or execute its Orders. 

103. On March 28, 2011, the BIA Superintendent issued an opinion recognizing the Arrow 

Court as the legitimate court for the Tribes. 

104. On May 7, 2011, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton, who was at the time the Executive 

Director of Administration appointed by Defendant Boswell, with the aid of outside forces, 

induced the Plaintiff Tribal Council to pass an unconstitutional resolution affirming the 

legitimacy of Defendant Boswell’s governorship and the legitimacy of the Impostor Court. 

This impermissible and unconstitutional act was taken to undermine the valid acts of the 

legislature and the Arrow Court and solidify the RICO Ringleaders’ control over the 

Tribes’ Executive and Judicial Branches. Furthermore, this was an attempt to avoid any 

further investigation by the BIA by presenting the Ringleaders’ takeover as merely an 

internal dispute that had been resolved. 
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105. On September 1, 2011, BIA Regional Director Terry Bruner issued an opinion affirming 

the Superintendent’s recognition of the Arrow Court. 

106. On September 19, 2011, Defendants HSDW and FPM, among others, aided Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell in appealing the BIA decisions that affirmed the Arrow Court, citing 

to the May 2011 fraudulently obtained Tribal Council resolution to support her position. 

107. At some point during this period, Defendant Boswell contracted for representation with 

Defendant FPM, a foreign corporation practicing law in and outside of Oklahoma. Both 

FPM and HSDW represented and advised Defendant Boswell in her actions in relation to 

the nomination of the Impostor Court and termination of Chief Judge Smith and Plaintiff 

Bell. 

108. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton was elected governor of the Tribes in a highly-contested 

election (see below) and swore his Oath of Office in roughly January 2014. Defendant 

HSDW continues to represent the Executive Branch of the Tribal government and/or 

Defendant Hamilton individually, and Ringleader Defendant Kickingbird was reinstated as 

attorney for the Governor at some point prior to April 2016. 

109. On July 10, 2014, the IBIA issued an opinion overturning the BIA Regional Director’s 

decision affirming the recognition of the Arrow Court on procedural grounds. The effect 

of this decision is that the Impostor Court is recognized by the BIA as the Supreme Court 

for the Tribes. 

C. CREATING A “TRIBAL LEADERSHIP DISPUTE”: REMOVAL OF 
LEGISLATORS 
 

a. Plaintiff Geraldine Nightwalker 
 

110. While a candidate for the Tribes’ Legislature in 2009, Plaintiff Nightwalker attended a 

conference relating to Tribal Business and a breakfast meeting sponsored by “Sawhorse 
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Casino Southwest,” an entity which was backing Defendant Boswell in her run for 

Governor of the Tribes. This meeting was also attended by Ringleader Defendant Boswell, 

Patrick and Bruce Whiteman, Ida Beaver, and Defendant Wood. Plaintiff Nightwalker was 

approached by the operator of the City Sentinel newspaper and was told that the paper 

would back her candidacy for a legislative seat if she supported Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell’s candidacy as Governor of the Tribes. 

111. Plaintiff Nightwalker informed this individual that the Constitution and election rules for 

the Tribes prohibit any candidate from accepting assistance with the election. She did not 

accept his offer of assistance. 

112. Plaintiff Nightwalker was elected to the Legislature in 2009 and served beginning in 

January 2010. 

113. In January 2010, the Legislature passed a resolution to estop Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

from excessive expenditures on projects which were outside of the scope of the mandate 

for her office. Specifically, spending on projects had been previously limited by the 

Legislature to $500,000 total per year, and Ringleader Defendant Boswell interpreted this 

to mean $500,000 per project.  The Legislature created a new mandate to limit Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell’s spending to $250,000 per project and to require Legislative approval 

for any projects, with projects to be specifically authorized and budgeted by the 

Legislature. 

114. Defendant Boswell ignored this mandate passed by the Legislature, and signed contracts 

with online gaming operations for over $9.2 million in 2010 without legislative approval. 

These funds were taken from the Canton Casino account, and were subject to NIGC and 

IGRA regulations, and were subject to the Tribes’ per capita distribution of gaming funds. 
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115. Plaintiff Nightwalker was further informed by Tribal Personnel that Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell’s staff, including and especially Defendant Wood, was using stamps bearing 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s signature and seal of office on contracts and other 

documents in Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s absence, with her express permission and 

instruction, especially in furtherance of contracts with online gaming entities. 

116. Further, the money used to enter the contract with online gaming entities was taken from 

funds which had been earmarked for the Tribes’ Canton Head Start program, to match a 

federal grant received by the Tribes. Instead, Ringleader Defendant Boswell diverted these 

funds to pay for the online gaming contracts she entered without legislative or Tribal 

Council approval, in violation of the Tribes’ Constitution. 

117. In August 2010, due to Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s failure to cease her involvement 

in projects and her spending well outside of her mandate and without the Legislature’s 

approval, the Legislature began impeachment proceedings for Defendant Boswell. 

118. Further, in December 2010, Defendant Boswell unilaterally and unconstitutionally 

removed all Legislators who had voted to impeach her, and issued an Executive Order to 

cease pay for these Legislators.  

119. The impeachment of Ringleader Defendant Boswell was brought before the Tribal District 

Court, where Chief Judge Smith upheld the impeachment. Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

immediately suspended or stopped pay for Chief Judge Smith, which was the subject of 

proceedings before the Arrow Court. 

120. The impeachment was appealed to the Arrow Court, who additionally upheld the 

impeachment of Ringleader Defendant Boswell. In retaliation and after the Arrow Court 
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confirmed the Legislature’s impeachment of Ringleader Defendant Boswell, Boswell 

appointed the Impostor Court. 

121. Ringleader Defendant Boswell ignored the Orders of the Arrow Court and the Legislature, 

and instead ordered that all government officers and elected officials opposing her be 

locked out of their offices and their pay be suspended or stopped entirely. 

122. During the lockout of legislators, two Legislators not targeted by Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell acted as the entire Legislature of the Tribes for a period of months. 

123. Eventually, Ringleader Defendant Boswell unlawfully and unconstitutionally appointed 

further Legislators, without election, to support and further her agenda and takeover of the 

Tribes’ government. 

124. Ousted Legislators made numerous attempts to reconcile the money spent by Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell, but were unable to obtain records to prove their claims or to verify the 

expenditures. These attempts included contact with the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the 

National Indian Gaming Commission relating to Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s unlawful 

expenditures of gaming funds and takeover of the government.  

125. The matter was never resolved, Ringleader Defendant Boswell continued to act unlawfully 

and unconstitutionally as the “governor” of the Tribes for a period of nearly three years, 

and in 2013, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton was elected to the position of Governor after 

much dispute within the Tribes as to the validity of the election.   

126. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton has continued Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s strategy 

and practice of freezing out or otherwise removing legislators who oppose him or the RICO 

Enterprise. 
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b. Plaintiff Wilma Blackbear 

127. On March 12, 2011, the Tribes’ Legislature unanimously voted to impeach Bruce 

Whiteman and remove him from office.  Plaintiff Wilma Blackbear was elected, without 

opposition, to the position formerly held by Mr. Whiteman on April 1, 2011. 

128. Ringleader Defendant Boswell refused to recognize the Legislature’s authority to remove 

Bruce Whiteman, and had suspended the pay of all Legislators and staff on February 17, 

2011, in response to the Legislature’s vote to impeach and suspend her as Governor for the 

Tribes. 

129. Ringleader Defendant Boswell indicated at the time that she would resume pay for the 

Legislators once the Legislature recognized the Impostor Court as the valid “Supreme 

Court” for the Tribes. 

130. Ringleader Defendant Boswell thereafter appointed the ousted Bruce Whiteman and 

another ousted Legislator—Patrick Spotted Wolf—as the only legislators for the Tribes, in 

violation of the Tribes’ Constitution. 

131. Plaintiff Blackbear accompanied other legislators whose pay Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell had suspended to Washington, D.C., in June 2011 to meet with the Bureau of 

Indian Affairs, U.S. Justice Department, and NIGC in order to discuss Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell’s takeover of the Tribes’ government. These persons were unsuccessful 

in obtaining any relief from the U.S. Government. 

132. Plaintiff Blackbear has never received pay for her work as a Legislator of the Tribes, and 

was terminated from her position as Legislator officially in or around March 2014 by 

Ringleader Defendant Hamilton. 

c. Plaintiff Darryl Seger 
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133. Plaintiff Darryl Seger began working as a Budget Analyst for the Tribes’ Legislature in 

May 2010. 

134. On December 28, 2010, Ringleader Defendant Boswell was impeached by the Legislature, 

but, as further discussed above, chose not to recognize the impeachment as an official act. 

135. Following her impeachment, Ringleader Defendant Boswell stopped the pay of all 

Legislators and their staff, including Plaintiff Seger. The pay stoppage was announced on 

February 6, 2011, and was signed by Ringleader Defendant Boswell and dated the last 

week of January 2011. 

136. The Legislature, attorneys for the Tribes, and the Speaker of the Legislature attempted to 

reinstate pay for legislators and legislative staff, but were unsuccessful, as Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell refused to leave office. 

137. Ringleader Defendant Boswell continued to spend federal grant money allocated to the 

Tribes, despite having been impeached. 

138. In mid-February 2011, Ringleader Defendant Boswell released an Executive memo stating 

that any legislator who chose to support Boswell would begin receiving pay again. This 

letter applied only to legislators and did not offer any remedy for legislative staff members, 

including Plaintiff Seger. 

139.  In or around May 2011, Plaintiff Seger visited the Tribal Complex in Concho, Oklahoma, 

to deliver a summons to Ringleader Defendant Boswell relating to a case filed in the Tribal 

District Court requesting and Order requiring Ringleader Defendant Boswell to resume pay 

for legislators and staff members.  

140. Ringleader Defendant Boswell was not at the Tribal Complex at that time, But Aider and 

Abettor Defendant Wood was present, and engaged in a confrontation with Plaintiff Seger, 
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including following Plaintiff Seger out of the Tribal Complex, and throwing the summons 

at Plaintiff Seger’s car as he drove away from the Complex. 

141. Following this incident, Ringleader Defendant Boswell implemented a security policy at 

the Tribal Complex which included the stationing of guards at the Complex 24 hours per 

day, 7 days per week to monitor Plaintiff Seger’s visits to the Complex, and any other 

person associated with the pay disputes. 

142. Plaintiff Seger attempted to contact Ringleader Defendant Boswell relating to the pay 

stoppage a number of further times, but was intimidated by her “security” and was unable 

to enter the Tribal Complex. 

143. Plaintiff Seger was identified as a Budget Analyst by the Tribes’ Human Resources 

Department from May 2010 to May 2014, but received no pay after January 2011 until his 

alleged termination in May 2014. Plaintiff Seger’s termination occurred after the election 

of Ringleader Defendant Hamilton. Plaintiff Seger has complained to the Oklahoma Labor 

Board and to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, but has not been able to obtain relief. 

d. Plaintiff Michael Bell 

 

144. In or around January 2017, Eugene Lisquita and other duly elected legislators of the 

Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes moved to impeach Ringleader Defendant Hamilton from 

his position as Governor of the Tribes. These legislators complained of Ringleader 

Defendant Hamilton’s lack of leadership, questionable management policies, and general 

loss of confidence in Hamilton’s ability to govern. 

145. In April 2017, the Legislature began in earnest to move toward impeachment of Ringleader 

Defendant Hamilton, and as a result of this activity, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton began 

to stop the pay of legislators involved in the effort to impeach him. 
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146. Specifically, time cards for legislative staff members which were approved by Eugene 

Lisquita were not honored by the Tribes, including those for Plaintiff Michael Bell, who 

acted as Legislator Lisquita’s Assistant. 

147. Additionally, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton ordered that Plaintiff Bell’s Tribal cell 

phone, web mail, and log in credentials be disabled, even though Plaintiff Bell is still 

considered a “full time employee” of the Tribes. 

148. Plaintiff Bell spoke to Ringleader Defendant Hamilton, who informed him that Legislator 

Lisquita had a criminal record dating from 2007, which would disqualify him from office. 

When Plaintiff Bell informed Ringleader Defendant Hamilton that this criminal record was 

from some time in the 1990s and not in the past ten years, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton 

did not reinstated Plaintiff Bell’s credentials. 

149. Plaintiff Bell further spoke to individuals at the Tribes’ IT Department and Personnel 

offices and was informed that Ringleader Defendant Hamilton had issued a directive 

ordering a stop to all pay and other paperwork involving those individuals working for or 

associated with Legislator Lisquita. 

150. The following week, Legislator Lisquita was served with a suit filed in the Tribal District 

Court, filed by employees of the Executive Branch. 

151. Legislator Lisquita filed an injunction requesting the Court’s Order to pay employees, 

including Plaintiff Bell, and requesting a halt to Ringleader Defendant Hamilton’s abuse 

of power pursuant to Article II of the Tribes’ Constitution.  

152. In May 2017, Judge Michael Ballinger of the Tribal District Court, under the control of the 

Impostor Court, ruled upon the suit and resolved the issues by Ordering Legislator Lisquita 

removed from office, in violation of Article II of the Constitution. 
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153. On April 3, 2017, Plaintiff Bell filed an application with the Election Commission to 

announce his candidacy for the District 2 Legislative seat for the Tribes. Ringleader 

Defendant Hamilton moved to invalidate Plaintiff Bell’s candidacy due to some “debt” 

which Ringleader Defendant Hamilton alleged was owed to the Tribes by Plaintiff Bell. 

Plaintiff Bell paid this alleged “debt,” despite having no prior knowledge of the “debt,” in 

order to preserve his candidacy. 

154. In late May, 2017, Plaintiff Bell visited the Office of Personnel Management for the Tribes, 

in order to confirm that he was, at the time, still registered as a full-time employee of the 

Tribes and to determine why his pay and benefits had been stopped. 

155. The Director of Personnel was unable to explain to Plaintiff Bell why his pay had been cut 

off, but did have Plaintiff Bell escorted out of the office by security. 

156. Following Plaintiff Bell’s removal from the Personnel Office, Ringleader Defendant Albert 

Ghezzi, current Attorney General of the Tribes, filed an Application for Temporary 

Restraining Order with the Tribal District Court, requesting the Plaintiff Bell be restrained 

from entering his place of business. 

157. Based on testimony of the Director of Personnel Management, Plaintiff Bell was Ordered 

by Judge Michael Ballenger of the Tribes District Court to enter Plaintiff’s office only 

during business hours, to remain away from the Tribal Complex at all other times, and to 

have no contact of any kind with the Director of Personnel Management. These Orders in 

effect bar Plaintiff Bell from the Tribal Complex, as the locks have also been changed on 

his office and he was not given new keys. Additionally, as Plaintiff Bell is not aware of 

when the Director of Personnel Management will be at the Tribal Complex, he is unable to 

enter the Complex at times which would avoid contact with her. 
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D. CREATING A “TRIBAL LEADERSHIP DISPUTE”: INTERFERENCE WITH 
THE ELECTIONS AND ELECTION BOARD. 

 
158. Pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution, Article IX, Sections 9-10, elections for Governor are 

held in odd-numbered years concurrent with the end of a Governor’s 4-year term (Article 

VII, Section II), with a primary election in October and a General Election in November. 

159. Pursuant to Tribes’ Constitution, Article IX, Section 8, nominees for Gubernatorial 

elections must be submitted between May 1 and June 1 during an Election Year. The 

Election Commission then reviews candidates and determines their eligibility, publishing 

a list of qualified candidates not later than August 15. 

160. The Election Commission, elected by the Tribes’ members to oversee and conduct fair and 

impartial elections, is established by the Constitution at Article IX, Section 3. The 

Commission is comprised of 8 members—one Cheyenne and one Arapaho from each 

Legislative District.  

161. During the 2009 Elections, Ringleader Defendant Hoffman, in her capacity within the 

Tribes’ Legislature at the time, Ordered Election Commissioners to “hold back” ballots 

and not mail them to absentee or other voters. Defendant Hoffman ordered Election 

Commissioners to mail ballots only to specific individuals within their districts.  Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman threatened the Election Commissioners with suspension or cessation 

of their pay, and demanded that certain votes not be counted and ballots not sent to certain 

members of the Tribal Council. 

162. Throughout her term in office, Ringleader Defendant Boswell undertook to fire or 

otherwise disqualify Election Commissioners who had acted against Ringleader Defendant 

Hoffman’s instructions in the 2009 election. 
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163. In 2013, two separate Election Commissions were composed within the Tribes. The first 

Election Commission, the “Flyingman” Election Commission, was lawfully elected by the 

members of the Tribes, pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution. The Second Election 

Commission, the “Hamilton” Election Commission, was unlawfully appointed by 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell. 

164. In roughly June of 2013, Darrell Flyingman submitted to the Election Commission his 

intent to run for Governor of the Tribes. With no opponent registered with the Election 

Commission, the Commission issued a notice that Darrell Flyingman was “declared 

elected” in conformance with prior Supreme Court decisions and the Tribes’ Constitution, 

which allow a candidate to be declared elected if they are unopposed instead of requiring 

campaigning and an election. 

165. Concurrently, the “Hamilton” Election Commission was appointed by Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell. There, both Ringleader Defendant Boswell and Ringleader Defendant 

Hamilton participated in a primary in October 2013, with Ringleader Defendant Hamilton 

eventually winning the election in November 2013 by one vote, after a number of re-

counts.  

166. Notwithstanding the existence of two separate Election Commissions, discrepancies 

remained in relation to the election itself, with Defendant Hamilton winning the position 

of Governor after numerous recounts by one vote. Members of the “Hamilton” Election 

Commission were ordered by Ringleader Defendants, including Ringleader Defendant 

Hoffman, to violate rules for elections and to throw out votes from certain members of the 

Tribes. 
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167. On November 19, 2013, Defendant Boswell wrote to the BIA, requesting to draw down 

funds from a number of accounts for the Tribes. The BIA wrote back on November 21, 

2013, declining to approve that withdrawal of funds, and stating that “the Agency does not 

know with certainty the validly seated governor, lieutenant governor, and members of the 

legislature for the Cheyenne and Arapaho Tribes.” 

168. Plaintiff Tribal Council has requested a review of the Tribes’ 2013 Election(s) by the Carter 

Center, a nonprofit, nonpartisan organization founded by President Jimmy Carter and First 

Lady Rosalynn Carter.  The need for such a review has been denied by Defendants. Plaintiff 

and the Legislature have also requested oversight from the Carter Center for upcoming 

elections in 2017, in order to avoid further infiltration by the Ringleader Defendants and 

their associates into the Tribes’ Government.  

169. RICO Ringleaders have undertaken actions in attempt to unlawfully exclude certain 

candidates from the 2017 election, including Plaintiff Jennifer Wilkinson. The current 

Election Commission denied the complaints made by Ringleader Defendant Hamilton and 

others against these candidates. 

170. Aider and Abettor Defendant Ghezzi, purporting to act as the Attorney General for the 

Tribes, has filed suit in the Tribal District Court against the Election Commission and its 

duly-elected members, requesting an injunction or restraining order against election 

commissioners, in order to stop them from moving forward with producing ballots which 

would include those candidates sought to be excluded by the RICO Ringleaders. (Case No. 

CIV-2017-0062) 
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171. Aider and Abettor Defendant Cowan, as attorney for the Election Commission, has violated 

his duties and has agreed to the enjoinder and exclusion of candidates who were approved 

by the Election Commission. 

E. RUSHING TO THE MEDIA: PUBLICIZING THE RICO DEFENDANTS’ 
ACTS AS VALID AND ALLEGING “FACTIONS” WITHIN THE TRIBES 

 
172. The Defendants, and specifically Defendant Boswell, have ensured that statements and 

representations of their actions as “valid” appear in media, including newspapers, online 

releases, and television.  

173. Specifically, as noted above, on October 15, 2010, in the midst of disputes relating to 

Defendant Boswell’s unlawful appointment of an Impostor Court, the Cheyenne & 

Arapaho Tribal Tribune ran a front-page story which included photos of Defendant 

Boswell swearing in the Impostor Court judges, who are non-Tribal member Defendants. 

174. Defendants have strategically used press releases and media stories to give the false 

impression that there are “factions” within the Tribes, and that their installed dictatorial 

Enterprise is the legitimate government of the Tribes. 

F. MAKING POLITICAL ROUNDS: THE INVOLVEMENT OF LOBBYISTS 
AND FRAUDULENT STATEMENTS TO THE BIA. 

 
175. Defendants have been in contact with lobbyists in Washington, D.C., Venables firm and 

Mike Copperthite, and have induced or paid these lobbyists to present to Federal officials 

and legislators that the takeover of the Tribes’ government and placement of corrupt and 

co-conspirator leaders within the Tribes’ government is an “internal dispute” and is the 

valid action and will of the Tribes’ membership. 

176. Further, Defendants HSDW, FPM, and Boswell have made false statements regarding the 

nature of the takeover of the Tribes to Federal officials at the Bureau of Indian Affairs and 
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the Interior Board of Indian Appeals, especially as they relate to elections and the ouster of 

the validly-appointed and seated Supreme Court (Arrow Court).  

177. Defendants have undertaken actions to conceal the breadth and nature of their involvement 

and communications with non-Tribal lobbyists, State and Federal legislators and other 

officials, and Federal agencies or instrumentalities. 

G. SEIZING THE PALACE: THE TAKEOVER OF GAMING AND 
EMBEZZLEMENT OF GAMING FUNDS 

 

178. The Tribes own and operate six Indian gaming operations in Oklahoma, including the 

Lucky Star Casino Club in Clinton, Oklahoma.  The other five Lucky Star Casino locations 

owned by the Tribes are Concho, Oklahoma; Canton, Oklahoma; Hammon, Oklahoma; 

Watonga, Oklahoma; and a Travel Center in Concho, Oklahoma. 

179. On information and belief, the state of Oklahoma has over 100 tribal casinos, more than 

any other state in the nation.  On information and belief, all Native gaming revenues in the 

state of Oklahoma exceed $3 billion per year. The casinos operated by the Cheyenne & 

Arapaho Tribes are Class II Gaming facilities, as defined by the Indian Gaming Regulatory 

Act (“IGRA”) IGRA requires the direction of the net revenues of such gaming 

establishments to the tribes for their government, economic development, and general 

welfare use. 25 U.S.C. §2710(b)(2)(B). 

180. The Cheyenne & Arapaho Tribes pay Tribal members per capita shares of gaming 

revenues, pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §2710(b)(3). Each member of the Tribes, including minors 

and other legally incompetent persons, is entitled to per capita annual income from the 

Tribes’ gaming operations. Twenty percent (20%) of gaming revenue is set aside annually, 

pursuant to the Tribes’ Gaming Revenue Allocation Plan as required by 25 U.S.C. §2710. 
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Each member of the tribes is then entitled to a per-capita share of these revenues, which 

are paid by check sent to Tribal members in August of each year. These payments 

dramatically decreased during the administration of Ringleader Defendant Boswell, and 

have not returned to the amounts which Tribal members received prior to the election of 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell. 

The Parking Lot Scam 

181. The Tribes, through the Lucky Star Casino Club in Clinton, leased from third parties land 

that was used as a parking lot for the Casino beginning in December 2004 and ending in 

2012. The Tribes paid $500 per month, in an approved contract with these third parties. 

182. In roughly 2009, then-Governor Darrel Flyingman entered a verbal agreement with the 

third-party owners of the parking lot property to purchase it for a total of $425,000. The 

contract was never acted upon, and Ringleader Defendant Boswell was elected and sworn 

into office in January 2010. 

183. Ringleader Defendant Boswell then hired Ringleader Defendant Foster, through an 

Executive Order dated January 2, 2010, to act as CEO and Director of Gaming for the 

Tribes. 

184. In or around March 2011, Ringleader Defendant Foster incorporated Sooner Biofuels, a 

now-defunct LLC registered with the State of Oklahoma. 

185. In or around early 2012, the third-party owners of the parking lot property contacted 

Defendant Foster, who indicated, without authority to do so, that the Tribes would still 

purchase the property for $425,000. The property had, in the interim, been appraised at a 

value of $126,000 and Ringleader Defendant Foster knew of this appraisal. 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 45 of 105



46 
 

186. In or about March 2012, Ringleader Defendant Foster e-mailed Defendant Tom Fox, and 

indicated his intention to personally purchase the property in the name of Sooner BioFuels 

and then lease it back to the Tribes at a profit to himself. Defendant Foster included in this 

e-mail his intention to avoid the rules and regulations of the NIGC relating to contracts for 

the payment of gaming proceeds to non-tribal individuals or corporations. 

187. In roughly April 2012, Defendant Fox incorporated a limited liability company in 

Minnesota—Clinton Land Holdings, LLC. 

188. Ringleader Defendant Foster paid to the third-party owners of the property a down payment 

of $150,000 from his personal account, and then assigned the purchase of the property to 

Defendant Fox’s LLC, Clinton Land Holdings. 

189. Ringleader Defendant Foster then induced the Lucky Star Casino’s general manager to 

enter into a lease agreement with Clinton Land Holdings, to lease the parking lot for 

$25,000 per month, plus 1% of the Casino’s Gross Gaming Revenue monthly. This contract 

was not approved by the Legislature or the Plaintiff Tribal Council, as is required under 

the Tribes’ Constitution. 

190. Between June 2012 and December 2013, the Tribes, through Lucky Star Casino, paid a 

total of $1,257,342.44 to Clinton Land Holdings. 

191. The NIGC found in April 2017 that the payment by the Casino, through a contract devised 

by Ringleader Defendant Foster, to Defendant Fox and/or his LLC constitute unlawful 

payments pursuant to the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”), NIGC regulations, and 

the Tribes’ Gaming Ordinance, and that such payments constituted a loss of gaming 

revenue which lawfully belongs to the Plaintiff Tribal Council in the amount of at least 

$832,342.00. 
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192. As part of a settlement with the NIGC for this matter, which was not approved by the Tribal 

Council or Legislature as required by the Tribes’ Constitution, Ringleader Defendant 

Hamilton agreed to further audits of the Lucky Star Casino’s revenue and expenditures. 

(Exhibit 4 NIGC Agreement) 

193. An external audit of Lucky Star Casinos in Cocho, Clinton, Hammon, Candon, and 

Watonga, Oklahoma, performed by Joseph Eve Auditors, an independent firm based in 

Montana, specializing in audits for Tribal Governments and Indian Gaming and hired in 

compliance with the 2017 NIGC Settlement, indicates a total of over $32 million in 

unaccounted-for gaming revenues for the 2016 calendar year.   

194. The Tribal Council did not know of the unlawful conversion of Tribal gaming revenues to 

the parking lot by Defendants Foster and Fox, or of Defendant Boswell’s approval of the 

same, until the NIGC’s report in April 2017.  

The Theft from HUD 

195. During the Boswell Administration, Ringleader Defendant Ida Hoffman was appointed as 

the Chief of Staff for the Tribes, and was further appointed as the director of the Tribes’ 

Housing Authority. 

196. The Tribes’ Housing Authority receives federal grants and other funds from the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the improvement and 

maintenance of housing facilities for Tribes’ members. 

197. Specifically, the Tribes’ Housing Authority, of which Ringleader Defendant Hoffman was 

director, received funds for the construction, improvement, and maintenance of a home for 

elderly Tribes members in the form of a Native American Housing Block Grant and an 

Indian Housing Block Grant, totaling $51,535,749.00. 
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198. These funds were to be used by the Tribes’ Housing Authority to provide affordable, safe, 

and healthy housing to the Tribes’ members residing within the Cheyenne Arapaho 

Reservation. 

199. Instead of using the funds as intended, Ringleader Defendant Hoffman used funds and 

credit cards issued to the Housing Authority for her own personal use and the use of family 

members, including payment for at least one trip to Honolulu, Hawaii. 

200. In September 2012, HUD, through the Southern Plains Office of Native American 

Programs, reviewed reports from Ringleader Defendant Hoffman and visited the Tribes’ 

housing projects and interviewed Housing Authority employees, and found a number of 

violations of HUD policy, including “questionable” purchases on Housing Authority credit 

cards, non-compliance with internal control and inventory requirements, non-compliance 

with allowable costs and source documentation requirements, and non-compliance with 

other policies. These findings were included in a Final Monitoring Report dated December 

18, 2013.  (Exhibit 5) 

201. Over the course of the next 14 months, efforts were made to reconcile these violations, and 

12 out of 14 violations were reconciled to the satisfaction of HUD. 

202. In December 2015, with questioned costs in the amount of $271,679.48, and with the 

Housing Authority having failed to provide full accounts for a number of credit cards 

owned by the Tribal Housing Authority during the subject period, then-governor 

Ringleader Defendant Hamilton entered a Voluntary Compliance Agreement with the 

Southern Plains Office of Native American Programs, agreeing to pay back the amount of 

$271,679.48 which had been unlawfully taken from federal grant funds and remained 

unaccounted for. (Exhibit 6: Voluntary Compliance Agreement) 
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203. Ringleader Defendant Hoffman was not required to pay back these funds, nor was she ever 

held liable in any way, either by the Tribes’ government or by HUD for the disappearance 

of these funds. 

204. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton’s agreement to pay back these funds with Tribes’ money, 

to be paid with non-federal funds, was not approved by the Tribal Council or by the 

legislature as required by the Tribes’ Constitution. The Tribes have paid these funds, from 

money which rightfully belongs to and is to be used for the benefit of the Tribal Council, 

pursuant to its budget, without authorization. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton has 

transferred these Tribal funds to HUD in order to avoid prosecution or consequence for 

Ringleader Defendant Hoffman. 

The Unauthorized Gymnasium Construction 

205. In or around 2008, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton proposed that a gymnasium be built 

upon Tribal lands using Tribal funds. The gymnasium project was approved at that time by 

the Tribal Council and Legislature. Construction on the gymnasium project did not begin 

at that time. 

206. In July and August 2016, with no work on the gymnasium having commenced, he 

Legislature and Plaintiff Tribal Council determined by independent resolutions that said 

gymnasium should not be built on Tribal lands, and that Tribal funds should not be used in 

its construction. 

207. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton thereafter vetoed the Legislature’s resolution denying 

funding and placement of the gymnasium. The Legislature lawfully voted to overrule 

Ringleader Defendant Hamilton’s veto. 
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208. The Legislature and Tribal Council are constitutionally empowered to authorize the 

funding of projects, and Ringleader Defendant Hamilton has the duty to follow the budget 

and law established by the resolutions of the Legislature and Plaintiff Tribal Council. 

209. Notwithstanding the Tribal Council and Legislature’s rejection by resolution the funding 

of the gymnasium project, Defendant Hamilton brought in Defendant Red Stone 

Construction Services, LLC, which began constructing the gymnasium with grounds 

preparation. 

210. Plaintiff Wilkinson, in her capacity as Tribal Council Coordinator, instructed independent 

Counsel Rick Dane Moore and Associates, PLLC, to file an application for injunction to 

restrain Defendant Hamilton from violating the law established by the Tribal Council and 

Legislature denying the budgetary funds for the construction of the gymnasium. 

211. After filing the required application, the matter was heard by the Tribes’ District Court, 

which issued a Restraining Order directed to Defendant Hamilton to stop the construction 

of the gymnasium. 

212. Defendant Red Stone Construction Services, LLC was made aware, through counsel, of 

the restraining order and the resolutions of the Tribal Council and the Tribes’ Constitutional 

requirements for Tribal Council approval. 

213. Thereafter, Ringleader Defendant Kickingbird approached Ringleader Defendant Webber 

of the Impostor Court ex parte, and without notice or hearing that Impostor Court lawyer 

authorized Ringleader Defendant Hamilton to issue a check to the Defendant Red Stone 

Construction Services, LLC. 
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 The Plaintiffs’ Unanswered Demands for Further Audits of Gaming Revenues 

214. Following the findings of the NIGC, and on review of the 2016 audit performed by Joseph 

Eve Auditors, the Tribal Council has demanded audits of the Tribes’ gaming revenues for 

other years going back to 2010.  The Defendants have refused such audits. 

215. On information and belief, far more embezzlement has occurred, and Defendants have 

taken for themselves hundreds of millions of dollars from the Tribes’ gaming revenues 

over the past seven years. The RICO Enterprise Defendants have acted purposefully to 

conceal the nature and extent of their embezzlement and theft from the Tribes by means of 

refusal to submit budgets and audits to the Tribal Council as required by the Tribes’ 

Constitution. 

V. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I: TAKING CONTROL OF A RICO ENTERPRISE 
(18 U.S.C. §1962(b)) 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

216. The Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all the allegations contained in the previous 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

217. The non-Tribal outsiders conspired with and compelled corrupt Tribal members in the 

complete takeover of the Tribal government, converting the government from a 

Constitutional government with checks and balances to a dictatorial RICO Enterprise. The 

non-Tribal members, “bad men among the whites,” as contemplated by the Tribes’ treaties 

with the United States, invaded the Tribes by infiltrating and engaging in an external 

takeover of the Tribes’ government. The non-Tribal RICO Defendants bribed, extorted, 

and conspired with corruptible members of the Tribes to spearhead the external invasion 

and takeover of the Tribes, to convert the very government of the Tribes into a RICO 
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Enterprise. Their goal was to control or steal hundreds of millions of dollars in gaming and 

other revenues, which tribal income is properly the property of Plaintiff the Tribal Council 

and the individually named Plaintiffs herein. 

218. At all relevant times, each Plaintiff is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(3), 

as each is an individual or entity capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property. 

219. At all relevant times, each Defendant is a person within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(3), 

as each is an individual or entity capable of holding a legal or beneficial interest in property. 

220. At all relevant times, the Tribes are enterprises within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1961(4) 

and 18 U.S.C. §1962, as they are legal entities engaged in, or the activities of which affect, 

interstate or foreign commerce. 

221. All Defendants are a group of persons associated together in fact for the common purpose 

of carrying out an ongoing criminal enterprise, as described fully herein, with the purposes 

of defrauding the Tribes and enriching themselves. Together, the Defendants directed 

nearly every aspect of the Tribes’ financial and governance affairs, with little or no 

oversight or control by the Plaintiff Tribal Council.  

222. All Defendants, through a pattern of racketeering activity or through collection of an 

unlawful debt, acquired or maintained, directly or indirectly, an interest in or control of the 

enterprise, the Tribes, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(b). 

PREDICATE ACTS 

 

223. The predicate acts that constitute this pattern of racketeering activity are: 
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a. Bribery of a Federal Law Enforcement Officer in Violation of 18 USC 
§201. 

224. At all relevant times, Ringleader Defendant Mark Cody, who is not a member of the Tribes, 

was a law enforcement officer of the Bureau of Indian Affairs within the meaning of 25 

C.F.R. § 12.21, authorized to exercise the duties and responsibilities enumerated in 25 

U.S.C. § 2803.  

225. Ringleader Defendant Mark Cody received unlawful payments of federally derived and 

tribal gaming monies from other Ringleader Defendants to induce him to participate in the 

crime ring and to help direct the Racketeering Enterprise, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 201. 

226. Ringleader Defendant Cody, having received these bribes, acted in furtherance of the RICO 

enterprise when he intimidated, coerced, and/or forced out the Arrow Court and its Court 

Clerk, Plaintiff Patricia Bell, and he did so unlawfully and not pursuant to his authority as 

a federal law enforcement officer, but falsely purported to be acting under color of that 

authority.  

227. The foregoing constitutes bribery punishable under 18 U.S.C. § 201.  

228. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

 

b. Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud in Violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341 and 1343: 
The Impostor Court. 

 
222. As described herein, in furtherance of their conduct of the RICO Enterprise, the RICO 

Ringleader Defendants and RICO Defendant lawyers, as well as Aider and Abettor 

Defendants, engaged in a wide-ranging scheme or artifice to defraud the Tribes, and obtain 

money and property from the Tribes by means of fraudulent pretenses, representations, 
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and/or promises. The ultimate objective of the Defendants’ scheme or artifice to defraud 

was to enrich themselves at the expense of the Tribes. 

223. In furtherance of their scheme, and as described herein, the Defendants transmitted, or 

caused to be transmitted, by means of wire communication in interstate or foreign 

commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, and also caused matters and 

things to be placed in any post office or authorized depository, or deposited or caused to 

be deposited matters or things to be sent or delivered by a private or commercial carrier, 

including but not limited to the following: 

a. Interstate transfers of Tribal funds, namely payment from Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell to Defendants FPM and HSDW, via electronic means and via checks sent in 

the mail, for the benefit of Ringleader Defendants in furtherance of their scheme to take 

over the government of the Tribes. The electronic means by which such transfers of 

funds occurred included without limitation interstate wire transfers from bank accounts 

of the Tribes to FPM and/or HSDW and other third parties initiated by RICO 

Ringleaders and/or at the direction of the RICO Ringleaders, including without 

limitation Defendants Robert Wilson and Joyce Wood. 

b. Interstate emails and other interstate communications that assisted in furthering, 

executing, and/or effecting the Ringleader Defendants’ scheme or artifice to defraud 

the Tribes and take over the Judiciary. 

c. Publication of newspaper articles, in print and online, which asserted that the Impostor 

Court had been “appointed” by Ringleader Defendant Boswell. 
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d. Newsletters and other correspondence, placed in the mails by Ringleader Defendants 

and/or at the instruction of Ringleader Defendants, which falsely indicated that 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell had sworn in a new Tribal Supreme Court. 

e. Online publication of blogs and other news releases, published by or at the instruction 

of RICO Ringleader Defendants, and meant to be consumed by the public at large. 

f. Letters written by RICO Ringleaders and/or Aider and Abettor Defendants at the 

instruction of RICO Ringleaders, and placed in the mails and sent to the offices of 

officials of the U.S. Government, which falsely indicated that Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell had sworn in a new Tribal Supreme Court. 

g. Interstate telephone communications between Ringleader Defendant Boswell and 

Aider and Abettor Defendants HSDW and FPM regarding the takeover of the Tribes’ 

Judiciary. 

h. Defendant Charles Morris, allegedly in his capacity as Attorney General for the Tribes, 

issued a memorandum on September 23, 2010, attesting the Constitutionality and 

validity of the appointment and swearing in of the Impostor Court. This statement was 

published to the members of the Tribal Council, and was sent by mails to these Tribal 

Council members and officials within the United States Government, and was broadly 

published both by print and online. This memorandum issued by Defendant Morris was 

in direct contradiction of the Arrow Court’s decision on August 12, 2010, which 

affirmed that the Legislature had lawfully and constitutionally denied the appointment 

of the Impostor Court. Further, this statement was in violation of the Tribes’ 

Constitution, Article VIII, Section 6(c) and the Tribes’ Law and Order Code, 

Department of Justice Act, Section 104 (Exhibit 7). 
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224. RICO Defendant lawyers and tribal Ringleader Defendants falsely represented to Tribal 

Council members, the general public, and agencies of the United States government, that 

Defendant Boswell had appointed a new Tribal Supreme Court. Defendants knew that they 

had made false representations about who was the lawful Supreme Court of the Tribes. The 

Racketeers’ representation about the Impostor Court’s validity was material to the 

furtherance of the racketeering enterprise and the enterprise’s conduct and control after the 

takeover of the Tribes’ judiciary. RICO Ringleader Defendants, acting in furtherance of 

the Enterprise, intended that the public and the U.S. Government must be convinced that 

the Impostor Court was valid. RICO Ringleaders and Aiders and Abettors mounted a false 

campaign included but not limited to those methods used above to convince others that 

their fraudulently-appointed Impostor Court was valid.  

225. The Tribal Council members and the concerned U.S. Government officials had every 

reason to rely on the Ringleaders’ and Aiders and Abettors’ fraudulent assertions, as theirs 

was a competent and audacious campaign using mass and social media to deceive. 

226. Defendants Boswell, Morris, HSDW and FPM Conspiracy to Oust the Valid Supreme 

Court: Ringleader Defendants Morris and Boswell, together with Aider and Abettor 

Defendants HSDW and FPM conspired to nominate and appoint unqualified Aider and 

Abettor Defendants the Impostor Court and Ringleader Defendant Webber to the Supreme 

Court in order to further the RICO Enterprise by installing a compliant and co-conspirator 

Court.  

227. Ringleader Defendant Morris released his memorandum roughly 40 days after the Arrow 

Court had affirmed the Legislature’s denial of the nomination of the Impostor Court Judges 

to the Supreme Court of the Tribes. His Memorandum was published generally to the 
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Tribes, and was made available to all members of the Tribes. Defendant Boswell then 

swore in the Defendants Impostor Court judges some six days after the Memorandum was 

published by Ringleader Defendant Morris. Thereafter, in December 2010, Ringleader 

Defendant Morris participated in the harassment and intimidation of Plaintiffs Bell and 

Marquez, and in their eventual unlawful termination from the appointed positions of Court 

Clerk and Deputy Clerk. Ringleader Defendants relied upon the ignorance of the Tribes’ 

membership as to their authority within the Tribes’ government. Ultimately, the Tribal 

Council came to accept the Impostor Court as the Supreme Court for the Tribes. 

228. Injury: The Tribal Council has been defrauded out of hundreds of millions of dollars in 

tribal gaming funds and federal funds made available to the Tribes. The injury to the 

Plaintiffs consisted not only of the loss of these funds, but of the Tribes’ loss of an 

independent judiciary which could operate as a “check” on the RICO Enterprise’s 

embezzlement of funds from the Plaintiff Tribal Council. This loss of an independent 

judiciary allowed the Racketeering Enterprise to control and direct the Tribes’ resources, 

and thereafter, there has been a complete lack of accounting for tribal funds by the RICO 

Defendants. 

229. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

c.   Obstruction of the Administration of Justice, in Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1503 and 18 U.S.C. §1961(1)(B): Termination of Court Clerks 

 
230. Defendants have participated, jointly and severally, in the obstruction of the administration 

of justice. 

231. The Tribes are “dependent sovereigns” of the United States and are political subdivisions 

of the United States pursuant to 26 USC §7871. The Tribal Courts are funded through the 

United States Department of the Interior.  Thus, the Tribes’ Supreme Court is a Court of 
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the United States and its judges and Court Clerks are officers in a court of the United 

States. 

232. The properly-established tribal Supreme Court, trial court, and Court Clerk constituted the 

Tribes’ Judicial Branch pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution. The Judicial Branch is 

charged with the administration of justice and to act as a check on the unbridled and 

corrupt Executive Branch. The above-named Defendants, other Ringleader and Aider and 

Abettor Defendants, directed by Defendant lawyers (FPM and HSDW, along with 

Ringleader Defendant Kickingbird) and Impostor Court lawyers conspiring jointly and 

severally and did corruptly threaten, force, and by correspondence letters and 

communications did influence, intimidate, or impede the due administration of justice, in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. §1503, by  unlawfully removing the properly constituted Supreme 

Court and thereby obtaining control of the Tribes’ government. 

233. The Arrow Court, up until the time of the unlawful takeover, had operated as a check on 

the total and dictatorial control of the RICO participants over the Tribes and their millions 

of dollars in revenues from gaming and the United States’ funding of Tribal programs. 

234. Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Hamilton, and Hoffman, aided by the Defendant Law 

Firms (HSDW and FPM) and lawyers, recruited Ringleader Defendant lawyer Webber to 

operate a compliant, corrupt and collusive Impostor Court which acted jointly with the 

RICO Ringleaders and other Defendants in official positions to exert control over and to 

participate in the corrupt operation or management of the tribal government as a 

racketeering enterprise. 
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235. Ringleader Defendant Boswell corruptly or by threats or force, or by threatening letter or 

communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored to influence, obstruct, 

or impede, the due administration of justice by: 

a.  ordering the Court Clerks to violate direct Orders of the Arrow Court that 

prohibited the filing of certain documents, and when the Court Clerks refused to do 

so, unlawfully suspending them and firing them from their jobs, without due process; 

b.  refusing to pay District Judge Bob Smith, which was subject of a suit in the 

Supreme Court against her; 

c. unconstitutionally appointing and swearing in the Imposter Court after the valid 

Supreme Court ordered her to pay District Judge Smith; and 

d. thereafter refusing to pay those Justices who were validly and constitutionally 

appointed.  

236. Ringleader Defendant Cody corruptly or by threats or force, or by threatening letter or 

communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored to influence, obstruct, 

or impede, the due administration of justice by participating in the unlawful removal of 

Court Clerks Bell and Marquez from the tribal court complex, and assisting Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell in refusing the Arrow Court entry into the court complex.  

237. Lena Marquez was the duly and lawfully appointed Deputy Clerk of the Courts for the 

Tribes’ trial court and Supreme Court, and was an employee of the Judicial Branch, and 

was unlawfully terminated in the same manner and by the same Defendants as Patricia 

Bell, concurrently with Clerk Bell’s unlawful termination. The termination of Lena 

Marquez was retaliatory in nature, after Lena Marquez followed Plaintiff Bell’s instruction 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 59 of 105



60 
 

and example in refusing to file court documents in violation of the Orders of the Supreme 

Court. 

238. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton corruptly or by threats or force, or by threatening letter or 

communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored to influence, obstruct, 

or impede, the due administration of justice by: 

a. drafting and circulating an unlawful “Administrative Memorandum” suspending 

Court Clerk, Plaintiff Bell, from her duties when she refused to violate Orders of 

the Supreme Court, in violation of the Courts Act and Constitution, which require 

that all Judicial employees be terminated or suspended by the Judicial Commission. 

b. drafting and circulating an unlawful “Administrative Memorandum” suspending 

Deputy Court Clerk, Plaintiff Marquez, from her duties when she refused to violate 

Orders of the Supreme Court, in violation of the and Constitution, which require 

that all Judicial employees be terminated or suspended by the Judicial Commission. 

239.  WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

d. Extortion and Attempted Extortion in Violation of Oklahoma State Law and 18 U.S.C. 
§1961(1)(A). 

 

240. Ringleader Defendant Webber, in concert with the Impostor Court Defendants, sought to 

obstruct or impede, and did obstruct or impede the due administration of justice by 

entering an unlawful Court Order terminating the employment of Court Clerks Bell and 

Marquez without the due process guaranteed by the Tribes’ Law and Order Code and 

Constitution. 

241. Ringleader Defendants Hamilton, Boswell and Hoffman, along with Aider and Abettor 

Defendants, attempted to obtain the compliance or consent of Clerks Bell and Marquez in 
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the termination of their duly appointed positions at the Court Clerk’s office in December 

2010, by force or threat of the loss of their position or suspension of their pay should they 

fail to comply with the Defendants’ directives as discussed above. Defendants’ actions 

were ultimately unsuccessful in obtaining the consent or compliance of Clerks Bell and 

Marquez, who refused to file the Order issued by Ringleader Defendant Webber, resulting 

ultimately in their suspension from their appointed positions.  

242. The actions of the Defendants in unlawfully terminating Clerks Bell and Marquez’s 

employment were in response to their steadfast refusal to violate Orders of the Supreme 

Court. 

243. Clerks Bell and Marquez were injured by the unlawful actions of the Ringleader 

Defendants in the loss of their employment and damage to their reputation within the 

Tribes. 

244. Plaintiff Darryl Seger was a duly-appointed employee of the Tribes’ Legislature. After the 

Legislature voted in favor of impeaching Ringleader Defendant Boswell, and following 

his actions in support of Leslie Harjo as Governor of the Tribes, Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell and Ringleader Defendant Hamilton ceased to pay Plaintiff Seger his salary as 

owed pursuant to the Constitution. His pay was ceased on February 6, 2011, though he 

was not terminated from his position until April 27, 2014. Ringleader Defendants’ failure 

to pay Plaintiff Seger, and Plaintiff Seger’s ultimate termination, was retaliatory in nature. 

Defendants Boswell and Hamilton’s attempt, and ultimate failure, to secure the 

compliance or consent of Plaintiff Seger constitutes attempted extortion pursuant to 21 

O.S. § 42 and 21 O.S. § 1481, resulting ultimately in the Defendants’ taking of Plaintiff 

Seger’s duly elected position without his consent. 
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245. Plaintiff Darryl Seger was appointed as the Budget Analyst for the Tribes’ Legislature in 

May 2010. In December, 2010, the Legislature impeached Ringleader Defendant Boswell, 

who ignored both this impeachment and later Tribal District Court, Arrow Court, and BIA 

findings affirming her impeachment. On February 6, 2011, Ringleader Defendant Boswell 

announced a stoppage in pay for all Legislators and the legislative staff, including Plaintiff 

Seger. In mid-February 2011, Ringleader Defendant Boswell published a letter indicating 

that any legislator who chose to support her as the Tribes’ governor would have their pay 

reinstated. This policy did not extend to legislative staff. Plaintiff Seger has made multiple 

attempts between May 2011 and May 2014 to have his pay reinstated through the Tribes’ 

Human Resources department and the Governor’s office, and was stopped from doing so. 

Defendant Seger did not ever attest to his support of Ringleader Defendant Boswell as 

Governor, and his pay was suspended by Ringleader Defendant Boswell from February 

2011 through January 2014. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton terminated Plaintiff Seger’s 

employment with the Tribes in May 2014, after withholding his salary and benefits for 

over three years. Plaintiff Seger did not consent to termination of his employment. 

Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s attempt to secure the consent of Plaintiff Seger in the 

termination of his position constitutes attempted extortion pursuant to 21 O.S. § 42 and 21 

O.S. § 1481, resulting ultimately in Plaintiff Seger’s loss of his duly appointed position 

with the Tribes’ Legislature without his consent. 

246. Plaintiff Michael Bell was employed with the Tribes as the legislative assistant to 

Legislator Eugene Lisquita beginning in January 2015. In roughly January 2017, 

Representative Lisquita and other legislators moved for the impeachment of Ringleader 

Defendant Hamilton. As result of this attempt to impeach him, Ringleader Defendant 
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Hamilton ordered that pay for all involved legislators and their staff be stopped in April 

2017. Plaintiff Bell has not received payment or benefits since April 2017, and has been 

further estopped from performing his work as legislative assistant due to a Restraining 

Order pursued by Defendant Ghezzi. Plaintiff Bell did not consent to the cessation of his 

salary, nor has he consented to being locked out of his office and prevented from 

performing his duties as a Legislative Assistant. Ringleader Defendant Hoffman’s attempt 

to secure the consent of Plaintiff Bell in the termination of his position constitutes 

attempted extortion pursuant to 21 O.S. § 42 and 21 O.S. § 1481, resulting ultimately in 

Plaintiff Bell’s loss of his duly appointed position with the Tribes’ Legislature without his 

consent. 

247. Plaintiff Jane Nightwalker was elected as a legislator for the Tribes in 2009 and was sworn 

in in January 2010. In December 2010, in response to the Legislature’s attempts to 

impeach her, Ringleader Defendant Boswell unconstitutionally removed all Legislators 

who were previously elected, and ceased their pay. In February 2011, Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell issued a letter indicating that she would reinstate and begin pay for 

any legislators who chose to support her as the Tribes’ Governor. Plaintiff Nightwalker 

did not affirm her support for Ringleader Defendant Boswell and was thereby not 

reinstated as Legislator and did not have her pay resumed. Plaintiff Nightwalker did not 

consent to the termination of her employment, and did not consent to support Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell as Governor as a condition of reinstatement to the position to which 

she was elected. Defendant Boswell’s attempt to secure the consent of Plaintiff 

Nightwalker in order to maintain her position as an elected Legislator constitutes extortion 

and attempted extortion pursuant to 21 O.S. § 42 and 21 O.S. § 1481, resulting ultimately 
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in Plaintiff Nightwalker’s loss of her duly elected position on the Tribes’ Legislature 

without her consent. 

248. Plaintiff Wilma Blackbear was validly elected to the Legislature to replace an impeached 

Legislator on April 1, 2011. During that time, Ringleader Defendant Boswell had already 

ceased pay for all Legislators in February 2011 and had issued an ultimatum February 11, 

2011 indicating that she would pay Legislatures who “agreed” with her or approved her 

position as Governor and appointment of the Impostor Court. Plaintiff Blackbear did not 

affirm her support for Ringleader Defendant Boswell and was thereby never paid as a 

Legislator for the Tribes. Plaintiff Blackbear did not consent to the termination of her pay 

as a legislator, and did not consent to support Ringleader Defendant Boswell as Governor 

as a condition of reinstatement to the position to which she was elected. Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell’s attempt to secure the consent of Plaintiff Blackbear in order to 

maintain her position as an elected Legislator constitutes extortion and attempted extortion 

pursuant to 21 O.S. § 42 and 21 O.S. § 1481, resulting ultimately in Plaintiff Blackbear’s 

loss of her duly elected position on the Tribes’ Legislature without her consent.  

249. These tribal employee Plaintiffs all have been the victims of extortion or attempted 

extortion in connection with their employment by Ringleader Defendants to coerce, 

threaten or force them into becoming participants in the RICO Enterprise by threatening 

to deprive them, and in fact depriving them, of their property in and to their tribal 

employment and their continued enjoyment of the proceeds and benefits of their 

livelihoods earned through work for the Tribes. The RICO Defendants gave them a choice: 

either the Plaintiffs join the crime ring or lose their jobs and/or pay and benefits, and all 
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the foregoing Plaintiffs consented to losing their jobs instead of accepting the ringleaders' 

bribes or extortionate demands and threats.  

250. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

e. Bribery of a Fiduciary Under Oklahoma State Law, in Violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§1961(1)(A) and 21 Okla. Stat. 380. 
 

251. At all relevant times, Defendants Boswell and Hamilton were elected or appointed 

officials of the Tribes, and Defendants HSDW and FPM were acting in their capacity as 

attorneys for the Executive Branch of the Tribes’ government.  

252. The Impostor Court Defendants, and Defendants HSDW, FPM, Kickingbird and Morris, 

are lawyers and members of the Oklahoma Bar Association, and have a fiduciary duty in 

undertaking their obligations to the Tribes and their members as clients, who are their 

beneficiaries, and such lawyers as fiduciaries are obligated to adhere to the Tribes’ 

Constitution and laws. Such lawyers are fiduciaries as defined by 21 O.S. Section 380 

(C)(2). 

253. Defendant Boswell, as the Governor of the Tribes, had responsibilities including without 

limitation monitoring financial activities involving Tribal Funds and executing any law of 

the Tribes or decision made by the Tribes’ Courts. 

254. Prior to the takeover of the tribal enterprise by the RICO Ringleaders and the Impostor 

Court, the Tribes had a properly constituted, legally sworn and installed Constitutional 

District Court, Supreme Court, and Court Clerk, which tribal judicial officers were 

illegally prevented from exercising their lawful duties to their tribal beneficiaries, the 

Tribes and members of the Tribal Council, by the unlawful and corrupt acts of the RICO 

Ringleaders acting in combination with the Impostor Court Defendants to oust the rightful 
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judicial officials so as to effect the tribal coup d’état and to gain control of the tribal 

enterprise in pursuit of corrupt acts. 

255. That in violation of the Tribes’ Constitution and laws, and without right or obtaining the 

prior required consent of the Tribes’ Legislature, which representative body acts on behalf 

of the trial beneficiaries to give or withhold consent pertaining to tribal judicial 

appointments; and without the prior required approval of the Plaintiff Tribal Council, 

pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution, Article VIII, Section 2,  said lawyers of the Impostor 

Court, acting with corrupt intent and in cooperation with the RICO Ringleaders did 

knowingly solicit, accept, or agreed to accept bribes, which were embezzled tribal funds 

and funds derived from the United States Department of the Interior, from the RICO 

Ringleader Defendants with agreement or understanding that such bribes as defined by 

law (21 O.S. §380) would influence the lawyer fiduciaries of the Impostor Court in 

carrying out the designs of the criminal enterprise in overthrowing the properly-constituted 

tribal Supreme Court, District Court, Court Clerk, and Legislature.  

256. Such bribes were in the form of salaries paid to the Impostor Court, derived from U.S. 

Department of the Interior funds, which are rightly the property of the Tribes and of the 

validly-appointed Tribal Judges and Justices. 

257. The RICO Ringleaders conferred, or agreed to confer a bribe to the lawyer fiduciaries of 

the Impostor Court derived from the embezzled Tribal funds and funds derived from the 

United States Department of the Interior so as to induce their participation in furthering or 

legitimizing the pattern of criminal activity and takeover of the Enterprise from the 

Plaintiffs’ lawfully constituted Legislative and Judicial Branches. 
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258. Defendants HSDW and FPM, along with Defendant Kickingbird, owed a fiduciary duty 

to the Plaintiff Tribal Council and all of its members, in their position as attorneys for the 

Executive Branch, to maintain certain funds for the Tribes in Trust and to refrain from 

over-charging the Tribes for services rendered. Defendants have breached these duties in 

a number of instances. For example, Defendant Hamilton paid to Defendant HSDW a total 

of over Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($300,000) for alleged attorney fees in the year 

2015, without the approval of the Plaintiff Tribal Council, which is Constitutionally 

required to approve all budgets and expenditures of tribal funds as discussed in Count VII 

below. 

259. Defendants HSDW and FPM, along with Defendant Kickingbird, as fiduciaries of the tribe 

knowingly solicited, accepted, or agreed to accept these bribes, in the form of monies paid 

to Defendants without the constitutionally requisite approval, were accepted with the 

agreement or understanding that the bribe would influence the conduct of the fiduciary in 

relation to the affairs of the beneficiary, the Tribes and the Tribal Council, namely in the 

overthrowing of the properly-constituted Tribal Supreme Court and carrying out the 

designs of the criminal enterprise.  

260. The foregoing constitutes bribery punishable under Oklahoma Statutes, Title 21, Section 

380 by imprisonment not longer than ten (10) years, a fine not more than Five Thousand 

Dollars ($5,000) or both. 

261. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

f. Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud: Theft of HUD Funds, in Violation of 18 USC 
1341, and 1343 
 

262. As described herein, in furtherance of the conduct of the RICO Enterprise, the Ringleader 

Defendants engaged in a wide-ranging scheme or artifice to defraud the Tribes, and obtain 
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money and property from the Tribes by means of fraudulent pretenses, representations, 

and/or promises. The ultimate objective of the Ringleader Defendant’s scheme or artifice 

to defraud was to enrich themselves at the expense of the Tribes.  

263. In furtherance of their scheme, as described herein, the Ringleader Defendants transmitted, 

or caused to be transmitted, by means of postal mail and other communication in interstate 

or foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, and also caused 

matters and things to be placed in any post office or authorized depository, or deposited 

or caused to be deposited matters or things to be sent or delivered by private or commercial 

interstate carrier, including, but not limited to, the following instance: 

a. Ringleader Defendant Hoffman had a position of trust with the Tribes as the Chief 

of Staff and director of the Housing Authority, and instead of using her position 

and office to benefit the Tribes, she devised a scheme or artifice to defraud, or for 

obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses from, the 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) of HUD program 

funds using a Tribal HUD program credit card to draw funds for her personal use 

and distributions to others, including a trip to Honolulu, Hawaii. (Exhibit 5) 

b. When the Southern Plains Office of Native American Programs discovered the 

fraud on HUD, and Defendant Hamilton conspired with Hoffman to discharge her 

HUD program defalcations. Specifically, in order to assist his co-conspirator in 

avoiding punishment, Hamilton wrongfully paid the debt Hoffman owed to HUD 

by using Tribal gaming funds to pay HUD, without lawful authority to enter into 

such a settlement and without the required approval of the Plaintiff Tribal Council.  
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c. Ringleader Defendants Boswell and Kickingbird, as well as HSDW and FPM, were 

aware of the foregoing fraud on HUD, and communicated directly with Defendants 

Boswell, Hamilton, and Hoffman by telephone and electronic mail, advising or 

instructing in the repayment of stolen HUD funds with Tribal funds, without the 

approval of the legislature or Tribal Council. 

d. Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Kickingbird, HSDW, FPM, Hoffman, and 

Hamilton’s actions constitute mail fraud as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1341 and § 1343 

and is punishable by up to twenty (20) years imprisonment.  

264. Further, the Ringleader Defendants’ actions constituted fraud under the following 

analysis: 

a. False Representation: The Ringleader Defendants represented to the U.S. 

Government and the Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members that they had the right 

to embezzle and divert gaming funds for the purpose of paying Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman’s embezzlement debt when the Defendants had not first 

obtained lawful and Constitutionally required approval by the Legislature and 

Tribal Council. 

b. False Representation Material: The False representation, if believed by the Tribal 

Council members and U.S. Government, would allow one of the Enterprise leaders 

and Ringleader Defendant Hoffman to avoid prosecution and avoid paying her debt 

to the Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

c. Ringleaders’ Knowledge of the Falsity of Representation: The Ringleaders were 

notified of the decision of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 

that program funds were unlawfully taken or embezzled by Ringleader Defendant 
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Hoffman, but rather than making her responsible for the crime, they concealed it 

by embezzling tribal gaming funds to pay the U.S. Government to discharge the 

unlawful debt. 

d. Ringleaders’ Intent that the False Representation Concerning Collection of 

Unlawful Debt be Acted Upon:  The purpose served by paying Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman’s unlawful debt from Tribal funds was to satisfy the HUD 

demand that embezzled monies be restored to the U.S. Government. The likely 

consequence of failure to pay Ringleader Defendant Hoffman’s unlawful debt was 

prosecution of Ringleader Defendant Hoffman and other members of the Enterprise 

and the suspension of HUD funding for the Tribal Housing Authority, in which 

case the Enterprise Defendants’ pattern of racketeering activity would be 

discovered by the Plaintiff Tribal Council. The Ringleader Defendants intended 

that the Plaintiff Tribal Council and the U.S. Government would accept the false 

representations that the monies they embezzled from the gaming operation were 

lawfully acquired and could be used to discharge Hoffman’s unlawful debt from 

embezzlement. 

e. The Tribes’ Membership and the U.S. Government’s Ignorance of the Falsity 

Concerning the Embezzled Funds and the Unlawful Repayment of Hoffman’s 

Debt: The Tribal Ringleader Defendants Boswell and Hamilton, as Governors of 

the Tribes, had exclusive control of tribal funds derived from federal programs and 

gaming, and for many years they refused to perform the accounting or audits 

required by the Tribes’ Constitution. The U.S. Government and the Plaintiff Tribal 

Council were shut out from learning that the Enterprise committed embezzlement 
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and conspired to conceal their crimes by not publishing accountings or having 

annual audits. 

f. The Tribes’ Members and U.S. Government’s Reliance Upon Racketeers’ 

False Representations and Their Right to Rely: Both the Plaintiff Tribal Council 

and the U.S. Government relied upon the Ringleaders’ representations concerning 

the legitimacy of the unlawful transactions used to conceal their and Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman’s financial embezzlement crimes. After all, the participants in 

the Enterprise were allowed to continue to control the Tribes’ Enterprise because 

they were not discovered and stopped by the U.S. Government or Plaintiff Tribal 

Council. 

265. The RICO Ringleader Defendants and Aider and Abettor Defendants have, through their 

combined actions, perpetrated fraud upon the Tribes and the Plaintiff Tribal Council, as 

contemplated by 18 U.S.C., Chapter 47, more specifically: 

266. Ringleader Defendant Boswell acted “in her capacity as governor” of the Tribes, between 

December 2010 and January 2014, despite having been both impeached by the Legislature 

and enjoined by the Judicial Branch from acting in any gubernatorial capacity. Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell entered numerous contracts within and outside the Tribes, holding out 

to those entities that she had the capacity to act as governor, and concealing from them the 

fact of her impeachment from the position of Governor. 

267. To accomplish these fraudulent schemes, the participants utilized the U.S. Mails, e-mails, 

text messages, telephone calls and facsimile, all of which constitute use of the wires in 

commission of their fraudulent scheme. 

268. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 
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g. Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud: Scheme to Defraud Using Parking Lot Lease, in 
Violation of 18 USC  1341, and 1343 

 

269. Ringleader Defendants Brian Foster and Aider and Abettor Defendant Tom Fox are not 

tribal members, and together and in concert with Ringleader Defendant Boswell and other 

Tribal officials, they collected unlawful debts from the Tribes totaling $1,257,342.00, 

which income they received was derived from gaming funds regulated by the laws of the 

United States and under the authority of the NIGC, an instrumentality of the United States 

tasked with the oversight of Indian casino operations and their management contractors. 

270. Ringleader Defendant Foster was an experienced Indian gaming management operator, 

and he and Ringleader Defendant Fox purposely avoided being NIGC approved 

management contractors, but had structured the relationship and contracted as principal 

agents of the Tribes’ gaming operation and in that capacity, they entered into a contract 

not authorized by United States law and the regulations related thereto as determined by 

the NIGC. (Exhibit 4) 

271. RICO Ringleader Defendant Foster and Aider and Abettor Defendant Fox: 

Defendants acted to perpetuate a fraudulent series of transactions, in continuance and 

furtherance of the criminal Enterprise, in derogation of Defendant Foster’s agency duties 

and the rights of the Plaintiff Tribal Council, to wit: 

272. Ringleader Defendant Foster represented himself to the Tribes as a skilled and experienced 

gaming operations expert and agent with an exclusive duty to the Tribes, and contracted 

with the Tribes, through Ringleader Defendant Boswell, to act with the utmost diligence 

to assist the Tribes’ business in maximizing revenue and to adhere to relevant United 

States and tribal law and regulations. Implicit and explicit in the duties Ringleader 
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Defendant Foster acquired was great fidelity and the complete and honest freedom from 

self-dealing. 

273. Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s Conspiracy with Foster and Fox and Their 

Embezzlement of Tribal Gaming Funds: Ringleader Defendant Boswell entered, 

without approval of the Plaintiff Tribal Council or Legislature, contracts appointing 

Ringleader Defendant Foster as the CEO and Director of Gaming. Neither the Plaintiff 

Tribal Council nor Legislature reviewed these contracts prior to Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell’s entry of the same. Ringleader Defendant Boswell signed numerous “invoices” 

for payment to Defendant Foster for payment of unlawful rent on the parking lot property 

from funds belonging to the Tribal Council. 

274. Ringleader Defendant Foster’s False Representations: Ringleader Defendant Foster 

represented in contracts and negotiations with Ringleader Defendant Boswell, that he was 

a good and honest business executive with the requisite skills and integrity to operate and 

manage extensive casino operations, and the Tribes relied upon Ringleader Defendant 

Foster’s representations and Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s contract with Foster, but in 

derogation of his duties to act in the highest fashion in observing good business ethics, and 

fulfilling contractual obligations of an agent not to self-deal, and following relevant laws 

and regulations, he took upon himself an advantage involving purchasing a parking lot 

which the Tribes had previously leased with reasonable rental terms favorable to the 

Tribes. Specifically, through his independently and wholly-owned LLC, Sooner BioFuels, 

and in concert with Defendant Tom Fox, through Clinton Land Holdings, LLC wholly-

owned by Defendant Fox and registered in Minnesota, Ringleader Defendant Foster 

purchased the parking lot property and then assigned or sold the same to Defendant Fox. 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 73 of 105



74 
 

Thereafter, Foster, acting as Gaming Director, entered into a contract for the Tribes’ rental 

of the parking lot from himself and Defendant Fox at a price well above the reasonable 

price which the Tribes had previously paid for the lease of the same property. The rental 

agreement Ringleader Defendant Foster entered with himself and Defendant Fox required 

the Tribes to pay to Defendants a portion of their gaming revenues monthly, in addition to 

standard rent for the parking lot. Such unlawful and fraudulent actions reduced the profits 

of the Tribes and interfered with the rights of the Tribal Council to participate in per capita 

payments from gaming revenues allowed by IGRA. 

275. False Representation Material:  The false representations, that Ringleader Defendant 

Foster would conduct himself in the position of CEO and Director of Gaming, for the 

benefit of the Tribes, and Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s endorsement of the same, if 

believed by the Plaintiff Tribal Council and the U.S. Government, would allow one of the 

Enterprise Leaders, Ringleader Defendant Foster to embezzle funds from the Tribes which 

were rightfully the property of the Plaintiff Tribal Council. 

276. Ringleader Defendant Foster’s Knowledge of Falsity of his Statements and 

Concealment: Ringleader Defendant Foster knew of the falsity of his representations, and 

his subsequent actions were not disclosed, but great effort was taken to hide the facts and 

he attempted to conceal his fraudulent property transactions and self-dealing by 

establishing a shell corporation, Sooner BioFuels, to purchase the property and 

subsequently selling or otherwise passing possession of the property to a second, foreign 

corporation, Clinton Land Holdings, LLC, owned by Defendant Fox. Thereafter, he caused 

the Tribes to pay to him rental income using the corporate shells and contract or collusion 
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with Defendant Fox as an attempt to cut out and to isolate them from detection of their 

deceptive scam. 

277. Ringleaders’ Intent that the False Representations Concerning Embezzlement and 

Payment of an Unlawful Debt be Acted Upon: Ringleader Defendant Foster intended 

for his representations that he was a lawful, prudent, and honest executive, to be acted 

upon by the Tribes in order that he would be hired and contracts signed. Ringleader 

Defendant Boswell knew or should have known of the falsity of Foster’s statements, but 

agreed to enter an unlawful contract with him, allowing him and Aider and Abettor 

Defendant Fox to embezzle from the Tribes over $1.2 million. 

278. Plaintiffs’ Ignorance of Ringleader Defendant Foster’s Intent and Actions in 

Embezzling Funds through Shell Corporations: The Plaintiff Tribal Council was not 

aware that Ringleader Defendant Foster would enter into collusion with Defendant Fox to 

perpetrate a fraudulent property scam to unjustly enrich themselves from obtaining 

unlawful contracts and funds that properly belonged to the Tribal Council. Plaintiff Tribal 

Council did not have the opportunity to review the contracts between Ringleader 

Defendants Foster and Boswell or to research Ringleader Defendant Foster before the 

contract was signed unlawfully by Ringleader Defendant Boswell. 

279. Plaintiffs’ and Tribes’ Reliance Upon Defendants’ Representations and Their Right 

to Rely: The Tribes relied upon the representations that Defendant Foster would act as an 

honest Gaming Director and the Tribes had every right to rely upon these representations, 

made both by Ringleader Defendants Foster and Boswell. 

280. Injury to the Plaintiff Tribal Council: The injury to the Plaintiff Tribal Council is at 

least $1,257,342. In addition, Plaintiff Tribal Council expects even further amounts will 
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be discovered and Defendants should be required to refund any other amounts the Tribes 

have paid them.  

281. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

h. Money Laundering, in Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 and 18 U.S.C. §1961(1)(B) 

282. In furtherance of their conduct of the RICO Enterprise, Defendants Boswell, Foster, and 

Fox, knowing that the funds involved represented proceeds of their unlawful racketeering 

activity alleged herein, and were obtained in violation of the Indian Gaming Regulation 

Act, 25 U.S.C. §2703(9), NIGC regulations, and the Tribes’ Gaming Ordinance. 

283. Defendants conducted, or attempted to conduct, financial transactions which in fact 

involved the proceeds of unlawful racketeering activity, with the intent to promote the 

carrying on of unlawful racketeering activity, including Defendants’ unlawful activities 

alleged herein, and/or to conceal and/or disguise the nature, the location, the source, the 

ownership, or the control of the proceeds of the unlawful racketeering activity and to avoid 

reporting requirements under Federal Law. Specifically, the transactions in relation to the 

sale/purchase/lease of the parking lot were done “to keep NIGC out of the picture” (Exh. 

3, ¶ 13). 

284. This included Defendants’ conduct of numerous financial transactions with the proceeds 

of their scheme or artifice to defraud the Tribes with the intent to further that scheme and 

disguise Defendants’ violations of IGRA and NIGC regulations and the nature of funds 

obtained by Defendants from the Tribes. These financial transactions included, without 

limitation, the following: 

a. Purchasing the land from the third-party owners, using shell corporations 

Sooner Biofuels and/or Clinton Land Holdings. 
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b. Executing a lease with Lucky Star Casino, which required the payment of 

$25,000 per month for the land, in addition to 1% of the Casino’s Gross 

Gaming Revenue monthly. 

c. Defendant Boswell’s signature on and direction to pay invoices monthly to 

Brian Foster, for the months between June 2012 and December 2013. The 

total amount obtained through these means was $1,257,342.44. 

d. Transfer of gaming funds to or through the shell corporations Sooner 

BioFuels and/or Clinton Land Holdings, LLC, both of which were owned 

exclusively by Defendant Foster and Defendant Fox; 

e. Transfer or use of gaming funds to purchase Courtside seats and Terrace 

suites for the Oklahoma City Thunder for the 2013 season, including 

playoffs. 

285. Defendants engaged in these actions with the purpose and intent to conceal from the Tribes 

their theft of Tribal Gaming Funds and to promote their scheme to defraud the Tribes. 

286. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

i. Mail Fraud and Wire Fraud: Falsely Representing Amount of Per Capita 
Distributions, in Violation of 18 USC 1341 and 1961(1)(B) 

 

287.  Each member of the Tribes is entitled to an annual per capita share of the net revenues of 

the six casinos owned by the Tribes, pursuant to the Tribes’ Gaming Revenue Allocation 

Plan, as required by 25 U.S.C. §2710. Twenty Percent (20%) of gaming revenues are set 

aside for these Per Capita Distributions, and per capita distributions are to be placed in 

trust for minor members of the Tribes and those members of the Tribes who are 

incompetent to handle their affairs. Each member of the Tribes receives their per capita 
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distribution by check mailed in August of each year. There are approximately 12,500 

members of the Tribes. The office of the Treasurer of the Tribes, which is controlled by 

the Governor, prepares the remittances which are mailed to each Tribes member annually.   

288. The NIGC found after an extensive investigation that during the years 2012 and 2013, at 

least $ 1,257,342 of gaming revenues belonging to the Tribes was wrongfully diverted to 

Foster and Fox through their shell corporations.  Therefore, the total amount mailed to the 

Tribal members for the years 2012 and 2013 was short by at least $100.58, a fact that was 

known by the Ringleader Defendants but not by the Tribal Council. However, Defendants 

falsely represented to the Tribal members in August 2012 and August 2013 by mail that 

the amount of the per capita distribution was correct by mailing checks for the Plaintiffs’ 

and Tribal members’ Per Capita distributions. 

289. After extensive investigation by the Southern Plains Office of Native American Programs 

(SPONAP) into the use of various assistance grants, beginning in 2012, the Department 

of Housing and Urban Development, through the Southern Plains Office of Native 

American Programs found in December 2015 that Hoffman had wrongfully converted or 

was otherwise unable to account for at least $271,679.48 of Indian Housing Block Grant 

(IHBG) and Native American Housing Block Grant (NAHBG) funds, and that further 

amounts were still in question, as complete records of Defendant Hoffman’s activities and 

accounts had not been provided to SPONAP.  

290. Hamilton entered a “Voluntary Compliance Agreement” with HUD in December 2015, 

and used gaming revenues belonging to the Tribes to repay the IHBG and NAHBG 

moneys stolen from HUD. This Agreement required payments on or by 30 days from the 

Agreement date, by September 30, 2016 and by September 30, 2017. Therefore, the total 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 78 of 105



79 
 

amount mailed to the Tribal members for 2016 and 2017 were short by at least $21.73, a 

fact that was known by the Ringleader Defendants but not by the Tribal Council. However, 

Defendants falsely represented to the Tribal members in August 2016 and August 2017 by 

mail that the amount of the per capita distribution was correct, by mailing checks for Per 

Capita distributions to the Tribes’ members. 

291. As part of the settlement with the NIGC entered by Defendant Hamilton in April 2017, 

the Tribes were required to allow and cooperate in a full audit of all gaming revenues and 

to submit the same to the NIGC. That Audit was performed by Joseph Eve Auditors, an 

independent company operating out of Montana and specializing in tribal gaming audits. 

292. This audit for one year, 2016, could not account for at least $32,000,000 in gaming 

revenues from the Tribes’ six casinos. Therefore, on information and belief, the total 

amount mailed to the Tribal members for the year 2016 was short by at least $6,400,000, 

a fact that was known by the Ringleader Defendants but not by the Tribal Council. 

However, Defendants falsely represented to the Tribal members in August 2016 by mail 

that the amount of the per capita distribution was correct. 

293. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

j. Collection of an unlawful debt under 18 USC 1961(6)(B): The Parking Lot 
Lease. 
 

294. RICO Ringleader Defendant Foster and Aider and Abettor Defendant Fox: 

Defendants acted to perpetuate a fraudulent series of transactions, in continuance and 

furtherance of the criminal Enterprise, in derogation of Defendant Foster’s agency duties 

and the rights of the Plaintiff Tribal Council, to wit: 

295. Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s Conspiracy with Foster and Fox and Their 

Embezzlement of Tribal Gaming Funds: Ringleader Defendant Boswell entered, 
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without approval of the Plaintiff Tribal Council or Legislature, contracts appointing 

Ringleader Defendant Foster as the CEO and Director of Gaming. Neither the Plaintiff 

Tribal Council nor Legislature reviewed these contracts prior to Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell’s entry of the same. Ringleader Defendant Boswell signed numerous “invoices” 

for payment to Defendant Foster for payment of unlawful rent on the parking lot property 

from funds belonging to the Tribal Council. 

296. Ringleader Defendant Foster’s False Representations: Ringleader Defendant Foster 

represented in contracts and negotiations with Ringleader Defendant Boswell, that he was 

a good and honest business executive with the requisite skills and integrity to operate and 

manage extensive casino operations, but in derogation of his duties to act in the highest 

fashion in observing good business ethics, and fulfilling contractual obligations of an agent 

not to self-deal, and following relevant laws and regulations, he took upon himself an 

advantage involving purchasing a parking lot which the Tribes had previously leased with 

reasonable rental terms favorable to the Tribes. Specifically, through his independently 

and wholly-owned LLC, Sooner BioFuels, and in concert with Defendant Tom Fox, 

through Clinton Land Holdings, LLC wholly-owned by Defendant Fox and registered in 

Minnesota, Ringleader Defendant Foster purchased the parking lot property and then 

assigned or sold the same to Defendant Fox. Thereafter, Foster, acting as Gaming Director, 

entered into a contract for the Tribes’ rental of the parking lot from himself and Defendant 

Fox at a price well above the reasonable price which the Tribes had previously paid for 

the lease of the same property. The rental agreement Ringleader Defendant Foster entered 

with himself and Defendant Fox required the Tribes to pay to Defendants 1% of gross 

gaming revenues from the Lucky Star Casino monthly, in addition to $25,000 rent for the 
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parking lot. Such unlawful actions reduced the profits of the Tribes and interfered with the 

rights of the Tribal Council to participate in per capita payments from gaming revenues 

allowed by IGRA. 

297. Ringleader Defendant Foster knew of the falsity of his representations, and took great 

effort to conceal his fraudulent property transactions and self-dealing by establishing a 

shell corporation, Sooner BioFuels, to purchase the property and subsequently selling or 

otherwise passing possession of the property to a second, foreign corporation, Clinton 

Land Holdings, LLC, owned by Defendant Fox. Thereafter, he caused the Tribes to pay to 

him rental income using the corporate shells and contract or collusion with Defendant Fox 

as an attempt to cut out and to isolate them from detection of their deceptive scam. These 

actions were undertaken with the intent to “keep the NIGC out of the picture” (Exh. 3, p. 

3, ¶13) 

298. Injury to the Plaintiff Tribal Council: The injury to the Plaintiff Tribal Council is at 

least $1,257,342. In addition, Plaintiff Tribal Council expects even further amounts will 

be discovered and Defendants should be required to refund any other amounts the Tribes 

have paid them.  

299. Embezzlement in Ringleader Defendant Hamilton’s Settlement with NIGC:  

Sometime after gaining the position of Governor of the Tribes, Ringleader Defendant 

Hamilton fired Ringleader Defendant Foster. Ringleader Hamilton entered a Settlement 

with the NIGC in April 2017, the purpose of which was to conceal the actions of 

Ringleader Defendant Foster and Aider and Abettor Defendant Fox.  The Tribes were not 

required to pay any settlement, but the NIGC found that due to Boswell, Foster, and Fox’s 

embezzlement, the Tribal Council had lost $1,257,342.00. 
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300. The debt incurred by the Tribes, in the amount of $25,000 per month, plus 1% of the gross 

gaming revenue for Lucky Star Casino Clinton was incurred in connection with the 

business of gambling in violation of the law of the United States, a State, or political 

subdivision thereof. Specifically, Defendants conspired to violate and did violate IGRA, 

25 U.S.C. §2703(9) and the Tribes’ Gaming Ordinance in distribution of gaming funds to 

persons who are not members of the Tribes and in a manner inconsistent with “operating 

expenses” as defined by IGRA and by NIGC regulations. 

301. The Lease Agreement entered between Clinton Land Holdings, LLC and the Casino was 

not approved by the Plaintiff Tribal Council as required by the Tribes’ Constitution Article 

V. The contract entered between Defendant Foster and Defendant Boswell for Defendant 

Foster’s services as Gaming Commissioner was likewise not reviewed or approved by the 

Plaintiff Tribal Council as required by the Constitution at Article V. 

302. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

k. Collection of an unlawful debt under 18 USC 1961(6)(B): The Gymnasium. 

303.  Defendant Red Stone Construction is not a member of the Tribes and is a corporation 

registered with the Secretary of State of Oklahoma, primarily doing business within 

Oklahoma. 

304. Ringleader Defendant Webber is an individual person, licensed and in good standing as a 

lawyer in Oklahoma, and not a member of the Tribes. He has acted unlawfully as the 

alleged Chief Justice of the Impostor Court since approximately December 2010. 

305. RICO Ringleader Defendant Governor Eddie Hamilton is a member of the Tribes and the 

Governor.  
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306. In or around 2008, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton proposed that a gymnasium be built 

upon Tribal lands using Tribal funds. At the time, the proposal was accepted by the Plaintiff 

Tribal Council and the Legislature. However, no work was commenced on the gymnasium 

at that time. 

307. The Legislature and Plaintiff Tribal Council determined by independent resolutions in July 

and August 2016, with no work having begun on the project, that said gymnasium should 

not be built on Tribal lands, and that Tribal funds should not be used in its construction. 

308. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton thereafter vetoed the Legislature’s resolution denying 

funding and placement of the gymnasium. The Legislature lawfully voted to overrule 

Ringleader Defendant Hamilton’s veto. 

309. The Legislature and Tribal Council are constitutionally empowered to authorize the 

funding of projects, and Ringleader Defendant Hamilton has the duty to follow the budget 

and law established by the resolutions of the Legislature and Plaintiff Tribal Council. 

310. Notwithstanding the Tribal Council and Legislature’s rejection by resolution the funding 

of the gymnasium project, Defendant Hamilton brought in Defendant Red Stone 

Construction Services, LLC, which began constructing the gymnasium with grounds 

preparation. 

311. Plaintiff Wilkinson, in her capacity as Tribal Council Coordinator, instructed independent 

Counsel Rick Dane Moore and Associates, PLLC, to file an application for injunction to 

restrain Defendant Hamilton from violating the law established by the Tribal Council and 

Legislature denying the budgetary funds for the construction of the gymnasium. 
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312. After filing the required application, the matter was heard by the Tribes’ District Court, 

which issued a Restraining Order directed to Defendant Hamilton to stop the construction 

of the gymnasium. 

313. Defendant Red Stone Construction Services, LLC was made aware, through counsel, of 

the restraining order and the resolutions of the Tribal Council and the Tribes’ Constitutional 

requirements for Tribal Council approval. 

314. Thereafter, Ringleader Defendant Kickingbird approached Ringleader Defendant Webber 

of the Impostor Court ex parte, and without notice or hearing that Impostor Court lawyer 

authorized Ringleader Defendant Hamilton to issue a check to the Defendant Red Stone 

Construction Services, LLC. 

315. The collection of funds by the Defendant Red Stone Construction, LLC constitutes the 

collection of an unlawful debt.  

316. Ringleader Defendants Webber and Hamilton participated in the collection of this unlawful 

debt, aided and abetted by Defendants HSDW and Kirk Kickingbird. 

317. The funds paid to Defendant Red Stone were comprised of gaming funds and were incurred 

in connection with the business of gambling in violation of the law of the United States, a 

State, or political subdivision thereof. Namely the IGRA requires that gaming funds be 

used for operating expenses, per capita distributions, or for the five uses stated in 25 USC 

§2710(b)(2)(B):  

a. To help fund the Tribal government or programs;  

b. To provide for the general welfare of the Tribe and its members; 

c. To promote Tribal economic development; 

d. To donate to charitable organizations; and 
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e. To help fund the operations of local government agencies.  

318. Payment to Defendant Red Stone was inconsistent with the IGRA and NIGC requirements 

for the use of gaming funds. 

319. Further, the Tribal Council, pursuant to Article V of the Tribes’ Constitution, has the right 

to approve contracts. The Tribal Council rescinded its approval of the contract with Red 

Stone, and therefore the contract was invalid and unconstitutional, in violation of a law of 

the Tribes as a political subdivision of the United States. 

320. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

l. Collection of an Unlawful Debt Under 18 U.S.C. 1961(6)(B): The HUD 
Settlement 

321. In 2010, Ringleader Defendant Ida Hoffman was appointed by Ringleader Defendant 

Boswell as the Chief of Staff and the Director of the Tribes’ Housing Authority. 

322. The Tribes were granted a total of $51,535,749.00 in grants to provide safe, affordable 

housing to Tribe members residing in the Tribes’ reservations from two separate U.S. 

Federal Government programs-- the Native American Housing Block Grant and the Indian 

Housing Block Grant. Pursuant to these grants, the Tribes’ expenditures were subject to 

oversight by Southern Plains Office of Native American Programs (SPONAP). These 

funds were specifically designated for the provision of safe and affordable housing for 

Tribes’ members and the administration of the Housing Authority. 

323. In September 2012, SPONAP visited the Tribes’ complexes. Employees of the Tribes’ 

Housing Authority programs were interviewed by SPONAP and reports of expenditures 

were reviewed. SPONAP representatives also visited the sites of Housing Authority 

programs. 
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324. After the September 2012 inspection, SPONAP released a report which indicated a 

number of deficiencies in reporting and appeared to indicate that funds had been mis-used. 

These reports included receipts for trips to Honolulu, Hawaii, using funds from the Native 

American Housing Block Grant and/or the Indian Housing Block Grant programs. The 

SPONAP report indicated a number of deficiencies in the administration of Tribes’ 

Housing Authority programs and a number of unauthorized expenditures of funds. 

325. Over the next two and a half years, Ringleader Defendants Hoffman, Hamilton, and 

Boswell, with others, attempted to rectify these accounting discrepancies.  

326. Ringleader Defendant Hoffman was terminated from her position as Director of Housing 

Authority in or around January 2014, upon the election of Ringleader Defendant Hamilton 

to the office of Governor. 

327. In December 2015, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton entered a settlement with SPONAP 

and the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), requiring the Tribes to 

pay back a total of $271,649.48 in funds which could not be accounted for from the Native 

American Housing Block Grant and Indian Housing Block Grant funds. 

328. The settlement specifically required that the funds could not be recouped through other 

federal monies. 

329. The Plaintiff Tribal Council did not review or approve this settlement, as required by 

Article V of the Tribes’ Constitution, and the Legislature did not review this addition to 

the budget as required by Article VI of the Constitution. Instead, Ringleader Defendant 

Hamilton took it upon himself, without authority, to enter this agreement and to make 

payments to SPONAP for the funds which had been unlawfully taken by Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman. 
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330. The funds paid to SPONAP by Ringleader Defendant Hoffman were comprised of gaming 

funds and were incurred in connection with the business of gambling in violation of the 

law of the United States, a State, or political subdivision thereof. Namely the IGRA 

requires that gaming funds be used for operating expenses, per capita distributions, or for 

the five uses stated in 25 USC §2710(b)(2)(B):  

a. To help fund the Tribal government or programs;  

b. To provide for the general welfare of the Tribe and its members; 

c. To promote Tribal economic development; 

d. To donate to charitable organizations; and 

e. To help fund the operations of local government agencies.  

331. Payment of Ringleader Defendant Hoffman’s debt by Ringleader Defendant Hamilton was 

inconsistent with the IGRA and NIGC requirements for the use of gaming funds. 

332. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

m. Obstruction of the Administration of Justice, in Violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1503 
and 18 U.S.C. §1961(1)(B): Appointment of the Impostor Court. 
 

333. Defendants have participated, jointly and severally, in the obstruction of the administration 

of justice. 

334. The Tribes are “dependent sovereigns” of the United States and are political subdivisions 

of the United States pursuant to 26 USC §7871. The Tribal Courts are funded through the 

United States Department of the Interior.  Thus, the Tribes’ Supreme Court is a Court of 

the United States and its judges and Court Clerks are officers in a court of the United 

States. 

335. The properly-established tribal Supreme Court, trial court, and Court Clerk constituted the 

Tribes’ Judicial Branch pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution. The Judicial Branch is 
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charged with the administration of justice and to act as a check on the unbridled and 

corrupt Executive Branch. Defendants, conspiring jointly and severally did corruptly 

threaten, force, and by correspondence letters and communications did influence, 

intimidate, or impede the due administration of justice, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1503, 

by unlawfully removing the properly constituted Supreme Court and thereby obtaining 

control of the Tribes’ government. 

336. The Arrow Court, up until the time of the unlawful takeover, had operated as a check on 

the total and dictatorial control of the RICO participants over the Tribes and their millions 

of dollars in revenues from gaming and the United States’ funding of Tribal programs. 

337. Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Hamilton, and Hoffman, aided by the Defendant Law 

Firms (HSDW and FPM) and lawyers, recruited Ringleader Defendant lawyer Webber to 

operate a compliant, corrupt and collusive Impostor Court which acted jointly with the 

RICO Ringleaders and other Defendants in official positions to exert control over and to 

participate in the corrupt operation or management of the tribal government as a 

racketeering enterprise. 

338. Ringleader Defendant Boswell corruptly or by threats or force, or by threatening letter or 

communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored to influence, obstruct, 

or impede, the due administration of justice by: 

a. Refusing to pay Chief Judge Smith of the Tribal District Court his constitutionally 

mandated salary for several months, despite the Arrow Court’s Order in SC-2010-

07 directing Ringleader Defendant Boswell to do so; 

b. Nominating and swearing in Aider and Abettor Defendants Daniel, Ghostbear, and 

McBee, and Ringleader Defendant Webber to unspecified and unavailable seats on 
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the Tribes’ Supreme Court in direct contravention of Legislative Orders 3L-LO-

2010-OMI-08-01 through 08-04 and the Arrow Court’s Order in Case Number SC-

AD-2010-07 denying the validity of the nominations of the above-named 

Defendants, in violation of the Constitution and the Courts Act.  

c. Circulating or causing to be circulated a memorandum indicating that the 

nominations of Defendants Webber, Ghostbear, McBee, and Daniel were “valid 

nominations, and that those nominees constituted the duly appointed Supreme 

Court, and that Justice Arrow, Boles, Guzman, and Roberts had been ousted.” 

d. Unlawfully swearing in the Impostor Court, in violation of the Constitutional 

provisions required for the approval of nominees by the Legislature and Tribal 

Counsel.  

e. Ceasing pay for the Arrow Court justices, who were validly and Constitutionally 

appointed as the “Supreme Court” of the Tribes. 

339. Defendants Webber, Ghostbear, McBee, and Daniel corruptly or by threats or force, or 

by threatening letter or communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored 

to influence, obstruct, or impede, the due administration of justice by acting unlawfully as 

the Supreme Court of the Tribes, having been unlawfully appointed by the Governor, 

without the approval of the legislature or Tribal Counsel.  

340. Aider and Abettor Defendant Morris corruptly or by threats or force, or by threatening 

letter or communication, influenced, obstructed, or impeded, or endeavored to influence, 

obstruct, or impede, the due administration of justice by circulating or causing to be 

circulated a memorandum indicating that the nominations of Defendants Webber, 

Ghostbear, McBee, and Daniel were “valid nominations, and that those nominees 
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constituted the duly appointed Supreme Court, and that Justice Arrow, Boles, Guzman, 

and Roberts had been ousted.” 

341. These acts of racketeering activity and collection of unlawful debts, occurring within ten 

years of one another, constitute a pattern of racketeering activity within the meaning of 18 

U.S.C. §1961(5). 

342. Plaintiffs were injured in their business or property by reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§1962, in that, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, Plaintiffs suffered 

damages including funds paid to the RICO Defendants as more fully set forth above in 

amounts over $1,000,000; loss of gaming revenues in amounts greater than $100million; 

loss of salaries of individually-named Plaintiffs; and the conversion of the Tribes’ 

government into a RICO Enterprise, and other losses yet to be determined. 

343. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

COUNT II: CONDUCT OF A RICO ENTERPRISE 
(18 U.S.C. §1962(b)) 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 
 

344. The Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all the allegations contained in the previous 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

345. Defendants, through a pattern of racketeering activity or collection of an unlawful debt, 

conducted or participated, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the 

enterprise, the Tribes, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c). 

346. Plaintiffs were injured in their business or property by reason of this violation of 18 

U.S.C. §1962, in that, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, Plaintiffs 

suffered damages including funds paid to the RICO Defendants as more fully set forth 

above in amounts over $1,000,000; loss of gaming revenues in amounts greater than 
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$100million; loss of salaries of individually-named Plaintiffs; and the conversion of the 

Tribes’ government into a RICO Enterprise, and other losses yet to be determined. 

347. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

COUNT III: INVESTING RACKETEERING PROCEEDS 
(18 U.S.C. §1962(A)) 

(AGAINST FOSTER AND FOX) 

348. The Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all the allegations contained in the previous 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

349. Defendants Foster and Fox received income derived, directly or indirectly, through a 

pattern of racketeering activity or collection of an unlawful debt, which was used to 

acquire an interest in the Tribes, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1962(a). 

350. Plaintiffs were injured in their business or property by reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§1962, in that, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, Plaintiffs suffered 

damages including funds paid to the RICO Defendants as more fully set forth above in 

amounts over $1,000,000; loss of gaming revenues in amounts greater than $100million; 

loss of salaries of individually-named Plaintiffs; and the conversion of the Tribes’ 

government into a RICO Enterprise, and other losses yet to be determined. 

351. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

 

COUNT IV: CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 18 U.S.C. §1962(b) and (c) 
(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

352. The Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all the allegations contained in the previous 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

353. Defendants conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. §§1962(b) and (c).  
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354. Plaintiffs were injured in their business or property by reason of this violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§1962, in that, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ acts, Plaintiffs suffered 

damages including funds paid to the RICO Defendants as more fully set forth above in 

amounts over $1,000,000; loss of gaming revenues in amounts greater than $100million; 

loss of salaries of individually-named Plaintiffs; and the conversion of the Tribes’ 

government into a RICO Enterprise, and other damages yet to be determined. 

355. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

COUNT V: LEGAL MALPRACTICE – NEGLIGENT PRACTICE OF LAW 
(AGAINST DEFENDANTS HSDW, FPM, MORRIS, KICKINGBIRD, WEBBER, 

DANIEL, GHOSTBEAR, AND MCBEE) 
 

356. Defendant HSDW, and all of its agents and assigns, has committed malpractice in its 

representation of the Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Hoffman, and Hamilton, and in its 

actions in furtherance of the takeover of the Tribes’ government, including the unlawful 

appointment of the Defendants Impostor Court. Defendant HSDW has continued to 

represent the Executive Branch, namely Ringleader Defendant Hamilton in his elected 

capacity, and has advised Ringleader Defendant Hamilton to take numerous 

unconstitutional and unlawful actions. 

357. Defendant FPM, and all of its agents and assigns, has committed professional malpractice 

in its representation of Ringleader Defendants Boswell, Hoffman, and Hamilton, and in 

its furtherance of the takeover of the Tribes’ Government, including the appointment of 

the Defendants Impostor Court. Defendant FPM was also in contact, on at least one 

occasion, with Ringleader Defendant Foster during the time of his unlawful scheme to 

defraud the Tribes. 
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358. Defendant Morris has committed malpractice as an attorney and in his capacity as the 

Attorney General of the Tribes, in his advice to Ringleader Defendant Boswell. 

Specifically, Defendant Morris authored and promulgated an unconstitutional statement 

advising as to the constitutional permissibility of Ringleader Defendant Boswell’s alleged 

appointment of the Impostor Court, in violation of both his ethical responsibilities as an 

attorney and his position as the Attorney General. The Attorney General is the Tribes’ 

prosecutor, and has all of the attendant duties and responsibilities. Defendant Morris failed 

in his duties by representing and advising Defendant Boswell in her violation of the Tribes’ 

Constitution and Tribal Codes. 

359. Defendants the Impostor Court, individually and jointly, have committed professional 

malpractice both as attorneys and as alleged Justices of the Supreme Court. Specifically, 

none of the Defendants Daniel Webber, Mary Daniel, John Ghostbear or Jennifer McBee 

is a member of the Tribal Bar Association or is authorized to practice law in nor to serve 

upon the Tribal Court. These Defendants knew at the time of their alleged appointment 

that they were not qualified to serve upon the Supreme Court pursuant to the Tribes’ 

Constitution and Tribal Code, but accepted that appointment and through their unlawful 

actions as the Court for the Tribes have furthered the takeover of the Tribes’ government. 

The Impostor Court Defendants have accepted payment for their fraudulent actions 

purporting to be the “Supreme Court” for the Tribes, and such payment is made both from 

tribal monies and from U.S. Government funds through the United States Department of 

the Interior. 

360. Ringleader Defendant Kickingbird has committed malpractice as an attorney licensed in 

the State of Oklahoma. He has advised his clients, Ringleader Defendants Boswell and 
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Hamilton, to take unlawful and unconstitutional actions, and has obtained through false 

contracts funds from the Tribes without the constitutionally-required approval of the 

Plaintiff Tribal Council. 

361. Both Defendant law firms (HSDW and FPM), the Defendant lawyers of the Impostor 

Court, and the other named Defendant lawyers, as named above, are all licensed attorneys 

in the State of Oklahoma and owe a duty to the Plaintiffs to abide by the Rules of 

Professional Conduct (“Rules”) pertaining to their representation of the Tribes, as an 

organizational client. 

362. As a primary professional requirement of the Defendant lawyers in the Tribes’ 

representation, there extended to each participating Defendant lawyer and law firm, a need 

for a thorough review and understanding of the Tribes’ Constitution and laws and a 

correlative duty existed to carry out the Constitution and laws of the Tribe and to be 

respectful of both lawful and judicial authority and the Separation of Executive, 

Legislative, Judicial, and Tribal Council branches as imposed by the Tribes’ Constitution. 

363. A further organizational representation duty derived from the Rules imposed upon the 

lawyer Defendants was the duty to not cooperate with the RICO Ringleaders and to 

prevent corruption, unlawful acts, or harm to the organizational client by an officer, 

employee or other person associated with the organization who engages in actions or 

intends to act in a manner related to the organization. 

364. Unmindful of the foregoing duties, the RICO Defendant lawyers conspired with and 

assisted the RICO Ringleader Defendants and other Aider and Abettor Defendants in the 

coup d’état, assisted and advised the RICO Ringleader Defendants and Aider and Abettor 

Defendants to violate the Tribes’ Constitution in the many ways set forth herein,  
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obstructed justice by failing to uphold and protect lawful judicial authority and conspired 

and took moneys stolen by RICO Ringleaders from the Tribes as their compensation for 

the mischief and corruption which they let loose upon the Tribes, to include taking down 

and collapsing the Judicial and Legislative Branches.  

365. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 

COUNT VI: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES UNDER OKLAHOMA 
COMMON LAW 

(AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS) 

366. All RICO Ringleaders and Aiders and Abettors have breached duties owed to the Tribes 

and the Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members as fiduciaries entrusted with the keeping 

of funds belonging to the Tribes, including gaming revenues and Federal contract and grant 

funds. The RICO Defendants have failed to account to the Plaintiff Tribal Council for the 

use and spending of such funds, and have breached their duties pursuant to Articles V, VI, 

and VII of the Tribes’ Constitution. 

367. RICO Ringleader Defendants Hamilton, Hoffman, Boswell, and the Aiders and Abettors, 

owed a fiduciary duty to the Tribes and the Plaintiff Tribal Council, pursuant to the 

Executive power to make payments from Tribal Funds in accordance with Constitution 

Article VII. Ringleader Defendants Hamilton, Hoffman, and Boswell have breached this 

duty owed to the Tribes by entering into unlawful and unapproved contracts and by making 

payments to contract entities without the approval of Plaintiff the Tribal Council as 

required by Constitution Article VII, Section 4(b) through (g) and Article V, Section 2(d). 

Further, the Impostor Court and other Aider and Abettor Defendants owed a duty to the 

Tribes to report or otherwise prevent self-dealing and other wrongdoing on the part of 
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Defendants Hamilton, Hoffman, and Boswell, and have failed in their duty to the Plaintiff 

Tribal Council and its members. 

368. Defendants the Impostor Court have failed to perform in accordance with their duty to 

curtail the unlawful and unconstitutional activities of the Ringleader Defendants, and have 

allowed Defendants Hamilton, Boswell, Hoffman, and others to unlawfully appropriate 

billions of dollars in funds which rightfully belong to the Plaintiff Tribal Council. 

369. Defendants the Impostor Court, acting as the Court for the Tribes, had a duty to curtail 

unlawful and unconstitutional action on the part of Ringleader Defendants Hamilton, 

Hoffman, and Boswell and other Defendants associated with the Enterprise, known or 

believed to be participating in self-dealing or other breaches of their fiduciary relationship 

to the Plaintiff Tribal Council.  

370. Defendant Ida Hoffman has stolen funds which were granted to the Tribes by the 

Department of Housing and Urban Development. Defendant Hamilton unilaterally and 

without approval entered a settlement with the Department to pay back these funds from 

Tribal monies, which rightfully belong to the individual members of the Tribes and to the 

Tribal Council. 

371. Defendant Brian Foster, in his position as Gaming Director, entered unlawfully into a 

contract with third-party owners of certain real property and with Defendant Fox. 

Defendant Foster has been found by the NIGC to have misappropriated over $800,000 in 

gaming funds from the Tribes. 

372. Ringleader Defendants Hamilton, Boswell, and all other Defendants elected or appointed 

to positions within the Tribes’ government, owed to the Tribes certain duties as elected 

officials of the Tribes. 
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373. As elected Governors, Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Boswell were granted 

Constitutional authority to appoint members of the administration and to approve payments 

by the Tribes’ government to individuals and entities. The Governor of the Tribes has the 

exclusive duty to pay on contracts, and Defendants Boswell and Hamilton abused and 

breached their duties by making improper appointments of family members to their 

administrations and by making improper payments on contracts not approved by the Tribal 

Council. 

374. Aider and Abettor Defendants who were employees of the Tribes had a positive duty to 

report any suspicious activity or suspected wrongdoing by any elected or appointed official 

with whom they worked. At no point in time did any of these Defendants report the 

embezzlement and corruption of Ringleader Defendants Hoffman, Boswell, Hamilton to 

any agency with the authority to investigate or evaluate these actions. Instead, all 

Ringleader and Aider and Abettor Defendants aided and abetted Defendants Hoffman, 

Boswell, and Hamilton in their embezzlement and misappropriation of funds in furtherance 

of the Enterprise which violated their duties as elected officials of the Tribes. 

375. Ringleader Defendant Cody, as a law enforcement officer of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, 

has a duty to ensure the security of the Tribes, protect the Tribes’ officials and members 

from harm, and to uphold both Tribal and Federal law. Defendant Cody failed to perform 

in accordance with these duties by participating in Defendant Boswell’s takeover of the 

Judicial Branch and removing Plaintiff Bell from her job without due process as afforded 

by the Tribes’ Code and Constitution. 

376. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 
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COUNT VII: BREACH OF CONTRACT UNDER OKLAHOMA COMMON LAW 
(AGAINST DEFENDANTS HAMILTON, KICKINGBIRD, WEBBER, AND HSDW) 

377. In May 2016, the Tribal Council, through a vote upon a duly-presented resolution, hired 

counsel Rick Dane Moore and Associates to act as independent attorneys for the Tribal 

Council, with the intention of obtaining redress for Defendant Hamilton’s various failures 

to abide by decisions constitutionally made by the Tribal Council. The expenditure for this 

appointment was approved by the Legislature in February 2016 as an amendment to the 

Tribes’ budget. 

378. The Tribal Council reviewed, in an open session, the contract which was proposed by Rick 

Dane Moore and Associates, and authorized Plaintiff Jennifer Wilkinson, as Tribal 

Council Coordinator, to enter into the contract. 

379. The Contract was entered, and Jennifer Wilkinson presented the Contract and the Tribal 

Council’s resolutions to Defendant Hamilton in June 2016. 

380. Defendant Hamilton refused to release funds to pay on the contract approved by the Tribal 

Council, in violation of Article VII, Section 4 of the Constitution. 

381. The matter was brought before the Tribal District Court, which determined that the Tribal 

Council has a right to contract with counsel independent of the Attorney General or the 

counsel for the Executive Branch, but instructed the Tribal Council to obtain legislative 

approval for the contract and payment. 

382. The Tribal Council obtained the legislature’s approval for this contract, by unanimous 

vote, in August 2016, constitution the formation of a valid and enforceable contract 

between The Tribal Council and Rick Dane Moore and Associates, PLLC.  
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383. Thereafter, Ringleader Defendant Hamilton vetoed the Legislatures’ approval. The 

Legislature voted to overrule Hamilton’s veto, on August 16, 2016. The matter was 

brought back before the Tribal District Court, but no resolution was ever had. 

384. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton then unlawfully filed with the Impostor Court an 

application for emergency injunction, to stop the Tribal Council’s duly approved chosen 

attorneys from being paid from tribal funds, constitution a material breach of the contract. 

385. To date, Rick Dane Moore and Associates have performed legal work for the Tribal 

Council estimated at over $65,000.00, which Ringleader Defendant Hamilton unlawfully 

refuses to pay for. Defendant the Impostor Court has supported Governor Hamilton’s 

unlawful and unconstitutional position. Plaintiffs have suffered damages as a direct result 

of this breach in the form of a limitation of legal services which may be rendered by Rick 

Dane Moore and Associates, PLLC.  

386. WHEREFORE Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below 

COUNT VIII: CONVERSION UNDER OKLAHOMA COMMON LAW. 
(AGAINST RINGLEADER DEFENDANTS BOSWELL, HAMILTON, HOFFMAN, 
FOSTER, AND WEBBER AND AGAINST DEFENDANTS McBEE, GHOSTBEAR, 

DANIEL, FOX, FPM, KICKINGBIRD, AND HSDW) 
 

387. The named Defendants have intentionally taken property, which rightfully belongs to the 

Tribal Council and the members of the Tribal Council and other named Plaintiffs, without 

the consent of the Plaintiffs, and have caused Plaintiffs harm due to these actions. 

Specifically: 

388. Ringleader Defendant Hoffman intentionally took and prevented the Tribal Council and its 

members from having access to a total of $271,649.48 in federal grant funds provided 

through the Department of Housing and Urban Development. Such funds were the property 

of the Tribal Council and its members, and were specifically to be used to provide safe and 
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affordable housing for members of the Tribal Council. The Tribal Council and its members 

did not consent to Ringleader Defendant Hoffman taking these funds, and as a result of 

Defendant Hoffman’s conduct, the Tribal Council was harmed in the amount of $271, 

649.48. 

389. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton entered an unapproved settlement with the Southern Plains 

Office of Native American Programs, to repay the funds converted by Ringleader 

Defendant Hoffman from Tribal monies other than federal grant funds. These funds were 

the property of the Tribal Council and its members, and due to Ringleader Hamilton’s 

unauthorized payment of these funds from gaming and other Tribal Revenues, the Tribal 

Council and its members have been harmed in the amount of $271,649.48. 

390. Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Boswell entered into contracts with Defendants 

HSDW, Kickingbird, and FPM, which have resulted in payments in amounts over $1 

million since 2010. These funds are the property of the Tribal Council and its members. 

The Tribal Council did not approve these contracts, as required by the Tribes’ Constitution, 

Article V, and did not consent to the taking of these funds by Defendants. As a result of 

these payments, the Tribal Council and its members have been harmed in an amount greater 

than $1 million. 

391. Ringleader Defendant Brian Foster and Defendant Tom Fox took possession of funds 

which rightfully belong to the Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members, through the entry 

of contracts which were not approved by the Tribal Council, and with the express purpose 

of avoiding NIGC oversight. These funds were rightfully the property of the Tribal Council 

and its members, pursuant to the Indian Gaming Regulation Act, NIGC regulations, and 

the Tribes’ Gaming Ordinance.  Ringleader Defendants Boswell and Foster and Defendant 
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Fox intentionally took possession of $1,257,342.44 in funds which Plaintiff Tribal Council 

had the right to possess, and prevented Plaintiff Tribal Council from having access to these 

funds. Plaintiff did not consent to this taking of funds, and did not approve the contracts 

entered by Ringleader Defendant Foster, Ringleader Defendant Boswell, Defendant Fox, 

and the shell corporations owned by Defendants Foster and Fox. Plaintiff Tribal Council 

and its members were harmed by the conduct of these Defendants. 

392. Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members have a right to possession of funds generated 

through gaming operations at the Tribes’ Casinos, pursuant to the IGRA, NIGC 

regulations, and the Tribes’ Gaming Ordinance.  Ringleader Defendants have taken an 

estimated $32,000,000 from gaming funds which are unaccounted for in the calendar year 

2016, according to an independent audit. Ringleader Defendants intentionally took these 

funds and have prevented Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members from having access to 

these funds. Plaintiff Tribal Council did not consent to the taking of these funds. Plaintiff 

Tribal Council and its members have been harmed as a result of this conduct of the 

Ringleader Defendants. 

393. Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members have the right to possession or control of all funds 

generated by the Tribes, through gaming or other means, pursuant to the IGRA, to NIGC 

regulations, and to the Tribes’ Constitution (Article V) and Gaming Ordinance. Ringleader 

Defendants Hamilton and Boswell have intentionally taken possession of Tribal funds and 

have prevented Plaintiff Tribal Council from having access to funds which are rightfully 

the possession of the Tribal Council and its members. Plaintiff Tribal Council has not 

consented to the taking of these funds, and has been harmed as a result of the conduct of 

these Defendants. 

Case 5:17-cv-01048-PRW   Document 1   Filed 10/02/17   Page 101 of 105



102 
 

394. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton entered an unapproved contract for the construction of a 

gymnasium on Tribal land with Defendant Red Stone Construction, LLC. The expenditure 

of the funds used for this construction is subject to approval by the Plaintiff Tribal Council 

pursuant to the Tribes’ Constitution, Article V. Ringleader Defendant Hamilton purposely 

entered this contract, after disapproval by both the Plaintiff Tribal Council and the 

Legislature, and took from the Tribal Council and its members funds which were forwarded 

to Defendant Red Stone Construction. Ringleader Defendant Webber, along with 

Defendants McBee, Ghostbear, and Daniel, aided and abetted in this Conversion by issuing 

an injunction to allow Ringleader Defendant to pay funds to Defendant Red Stone 

Construction. Plaintiff Tribal Council did not consent to the payment of any amount to 

Defendant Red Stone Construction, LLC, and filed suit in the Tribal District Court to that 

effect.  Plaintiff Tribal Council and its members have been harmed in the amount of at least 

$1,000,000 by these Defendants’ actions. 

395. Plaintiffs Seger, Bell, Nightwalker, and Fred and Wilma Blackbear had the right to 

continued employment and payment of wages and benefits with the Tribes’ government, 

as employees appointed or elected by the Legislature of the Tribes. Ringleader Defendants 

Hamilton and Boswell intentionally deprived these Plaintiffs of their pay, by unlawfully 

terminating their employment or by suspending their pay. Plaintiffs did not consent to the 

loss of their earnings and benefits, and were harmed as a result of the unlawful termination 

of their employment by Ringleader Defendants Hamilton and Boswell. 

396. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for the relief set forth below. 
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DEMAND FOR JUDGMENT 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court: 

397. Award Plaintiffs such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as may be necessary to 

avert the likelihood of Plaintiffs’ irreparable injury during the pendency of this action and 

to preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary 

restraining order, a preliminary injunction, an order freezing assets of the RICO 

Defendants, writs of possession and/or attachment, Writs of Mandamus directed to the 

Tribal Courts, Writs of Prohibition, and the appointment of a Special Master to oversee 

the Tribes’ elections and account for and distribute Tribal funds in the regular course of 

governance of the Tribes;  

398. Award such equitable relief as necessary and available to redress the injury to Plaintiffs, 

including, but not limited to:   

a. A declaration that the Arrow Court is the legitimately-appointed Supreme Court for 

the Tribes, and a reinstatement of the same,  

b. A declaration that the Plaintiffs are the lawful owner of any and all property, real or 

personal, tangible or intangible, purchased by any or all of the RICO Defendants using 

money converted from the Tribe, including without limitation. 

399. A declaration that any purported transfer of any interest in any Tribe-Owned Business to 

any RICO Defendant, and any purported contract that purports to affect such transfer, is 

null and void.  

400. A declaration that any purported contract that purports to obligate the Tribes or any Tribe-

Owned Business to provide any RICO Defendant anything of value is null and void.  

401. Any other necessary declaration. 
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402. Rescission or reformation of any contract not otherwise declared null and void, as 

necessary. 

403. An accounting of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains 

404. Disgorgement of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains. 

405. Imposition of a constructive trust upon Defendants’ ill-gotten gains. 

406. Restitution to Plaintiffs of all benefits unjustly acquired by Defendants at the Plaintiffs’ 

expense. 

407. An injunction permanently enjoining the RICO Defendants from, or attempting to, access, 

damage, or destroy any computer, computer system, or electronically stored data of the 

Plaintiffs or any Tribe-Owned Business.   

408. An injunction requiring the Defendants return to the Plaintiffs any records, documents, 

and/or data of the Plaintiffs in their possession, custody, or control, whether in paper or 

electronic form.  

409. An injunction requiring the Defendants return to the Plaintiffs any other property of the 

Plaintiffs in their possession, custody, or control. 

410. Award Plaintiffs compensatory Damages to be determined at trial; 

411. Award Plaintiffs treble, multiple, punitive, and/or other exemplary damages, in an amount 

to be determined at trial; 

412. Award Plaintiffs pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as allowed by law; 

413. Award Plaintiffs their costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, as provided by 

law. 

414. Any and all other relief which this Court deems just and equitable. 
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